HYDROGEOLOGIC REPORT

ARCO AMPM, PUYALLUP, WASHINGTON

Prepared for BARGHAUSEN CONSULTING ENGINEERS, INC. May 13, 2022 Project No. M2303.02

> Prepared by Maul Foster & Alongi, Inc. 1329 N State Street, Suite 301, Bellingham, WA 98225



CRITICAL AQUIFER RECHARGE AREA HYDROGEOLOGIC REPORT

ARCO AMPM, PUYALLUP, WASHINGTON The material and data in this report were prepared under the supervision and direction of the undersigned.

MAUL FOSTER & ALONGI, INC.

esse Hall, GIT Staff Hydrogeologist

.

05-13-2022

Heather Good, LHG Senior Hydrogeologist

\\stmfa01.file.core.windows.net\final-dir\2303.02 Barghausen ARCO Puyallup\Document\001.2022.05.13 CARA Report\Rf_CARA Puyallup ARCO.docx

CONTENTS

| ACRO | NYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS | 1 |
|------|--|------------------------|
| 1 | INTRODUCTION | 2 |
| 2 | PROJECT DESCRIPTION 2.1 EXISTING CONDITIONS 2.2 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT | 2 2 2 |
| 3 | HYDROGEOLOGIC ASSESSMENT3.1PHYSICAL SETTING3.2GEOLOGY3.3AQUIFER CHARACTERISTICS3.4GROUNDWATER QUALITY | 3 3 4 5 7 |
| 4 | BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 4.1 STRUCTURAL BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 4.2 OPERATIONAL BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 4.3 GROUNDWATER MONITORING PLAN PROVISIONS 4.4 SPILL PLAN | 7 8 8 9 10 |
| 5 | PREDICTIVE EVALUATION 5.1 EFFECTS ON NEARBY GROUNDWATER QUANTITY 5.2 EFFECTS ON NEARBY GROUNDWATER QUALITY | 10 10 10 |
| | | |

LIMITATIONS

REFERENCES

FIGURES

APPENDIX A GEOTECHNICAL REPORT

APPENDIX B

WELL LOGS

APPENDIX C

WATER RIGHTS

APPENDIX D

WATER QUALITY EXCEEDANCE DATA

APPENDIX E

SPILL PREVENTION AND CLEANUP PLAN

ILLUSTRATIONS

FOLLOWING REPORT:

FIGURES

- 1-1 SITE LOCATION AND SURFACE GEOLOGY
- 1-2 PIERCE COUNTY CRITICAL AQUIFER RECHARGE AREAS
- 3-1 TIME OF TRAVEL TO PUBLIC WATER SUPPLY WELLS

| bgs | below ground surface |
|---------|--|
| BMP | best management practice |
| CARA | critical aquifer recharge area |
| Ecology | Washington State Department of Ecology |
| DOH | Washington State Department of Health |
| ID | identification |
| MCL | maximum contaminant level |
| MFA | Maul Foster & Alongi, Inc. |
| MWS | Modular Wetlands System |
| Qa | Quaternary alluvium |
| Qp | Quaternary peat deposits |
| Qgl | Quaternary bog, marsh, swamp, or lake deposits |
| Site | Puyallup ARCO ampm retail fueling station, convenience |
| | store, and car wash |
| SWMMWW | Stormwater Management Manual for Western |
| | Washington |
| sq ft | square foot or square feet |
| TSS | total suspended solids |
| UIC | underground injection control |
| UST | underground storage tank |
| WAC | Washington Administrative Code |

INTRODUCTION

On behalf of Barghausen Consulting Engineers, Inc., Maul Foster & Along, Inc. (MFA), has prepared this critical aquifer recharge area (CARA) hydrogeologic assessment report for the proposed construction of an ARCO ampm retail fueling station, convenience store, and car wash (the Site) located at 1402 South Meridian in Puyallup, Pierce County, Washington (see Figure 1-1). The Site is located in section 34, township 20 north, range 4 east of the Willamette Meridian and includes City of Puyallup tax lot numbers 773000021, 7730000031, 7730000281, and 7730000288. The entirety of the Site is located within a CARA, as designated by Pierce County (see Figure 1-2). The proposed project includes demolition of an existing building, construction of two new buildings, and installation of two fuel underground storage tanks (USTs) on the Site. This CARA report provides a hydrogeologic assessment of the Site and, to ensure protection of groundwater resources, proposes best management practices (BMPs) for the proposed development following requirements established in the City of Puyallup Code of Ordinances for critical areas chapter 21.06.

2 project description

2.1 Existing Conditions

According to the Lewis County Assessor's Office, the Site includes four parcels currently owned by H&H Puyallup LLC (Figure 1-1). The northern portion of the Site is comprised of two parcels: parcel 7730000021, is a total of 0.096 acres, and parcel 7730000031 is a total of 0.324 acres. The southern portion of the Site is also comprised of two parcels: parcel 77300000281 totals 0.724 acres, and parcel 77300000288 totals just 0.061 acres. In total, the Site encompasses approximately 1.205 acres of generally level terrain ranging from 47 feet to 49 feet in elevation. The Site currently consists of a vacant building with landscaped areas and gravel and paved parking lots. The City of Puyallup website shows the Site is within the City of Puyallup development boundary and is currently zoned as General Commercial (City of Puyallup, 2021). Adjacent properties share the same zoning designation.

2.2 Proposed Development

Proposed development plans for the Site include construction of a new approximately 3,349 squarefoot (sq ft), single-level ARCO ampm convenience store with a refueling station with canopy comprising eight multi-product dispensers, one new gasoline UST, one new split gasoline/diesel fuel UST, and a separate 24-foot by 28-foot car wash facility located south of the fueling areas. The multiproduct dispenser refueling station canopy will occupy approximately 6,321 sq ft, and the car wash facility will occupy approximately 1,152 sq ft.

^{\\}stmfa01.file.core.windows.net\final-dir\2303.02 Barghausen ARCO Puyallup\Document\001.2022.05.13 CARA Report\Rf_CARA Puyallup ARCO.docx

The proposed convenience store will be a single story, slab-on-grade and wood-framed structure, with a monolithic slab with a thickened edge and stem walls. All proposed fuel canopy structures will be metal framed with supporting columns situated on shallow conventional or pier foundations. Excavations for the proposed USTs are anticipated to extend approximately 15 to 20 feet below finished Site grade. For areas of the Site, excluding the fueling area pads and car wash, the proposed stormwater facility consists of the following treatment flow process:

- 1. Stormwater runoff will be collected by roof drains and Type I catch basins in all impervious areas and routed to the treatment facility.
- 2. Total suspended solids (TSS), oils, and sheen will be removed from stormwater runoff by an oil/water separator.
- 3. A BioClean Modular Wetland System Linear (MWS Linear) stormwater treatment cell will receive stormwater from the oil/water separator and provide treatment for remaining site pollutants prior to discharge to the municipal stormwater system.
- 4. A detention vault will be constructed to provide temporary storage of stormwater during peak runoff flows to reduce the potential for backup and flooding of impermeable areas.
- 5. Treated stormwater will then be discharged to the City of Puyallup storm sewer system.

The fueling area pads and car wash will be hydraulically separated from the rest of the Site surfaces. Stormwater from the fueling area pads will be routed to an oil/water separator prior to discharge to the City of Puyallup sanitary sewer system. Wastewater from the car wash will be routed to a reclaim system for treatment and will either be reused in the wash cycle or discharged to the sanitary sewer system. Overflow and rinse water will be routed through an oil/water separator prior to discharge to the sanitary sewer system. Emergency shutoff valves will be positioned throughout the facility to mitigate the potential release of contaminants into the system.

3 HYDROGEOLOGIC ASSESSMENT

3.1 Physical Setting

The Site is located near the center of the City of Puyallup at an elevation of approximately 47 feet to 49 feet above mean sea level. The Site topography is generally flat. The local climate is predominantly a mild marine climate with average monthly temperatures typically ranging from 33°F to 78°F, and monthly rainfall totals ranging from an average minimum of 0.87 inches in July to an average maximum of 6.1 inches in November (U.S. Climate Data, 2022). The Site is bordered by commercial development to the south, South Meridian Avenue to the east, and Highway 512 to the west and north. The Site is located approximately one and one-quarter miles southwest of the Puyallup River and one-third of a mile northwest of a small tributary of Clarks Creek. Historical aerial photographs indicate the Site consisted of agricultural farmland through the mid-1970s, after which the existing

\\stmfa01.file.core.windows.net\final-dir\2303.02 Barghausen ARCO Puyallup\Document\001.2022.05.13 CARA Report\Rf_CARA Puyallup ARCO.docx

single-level restaurant building and parking areas were constructed. The majority of the Site is asphalt paved or otherwise impermeable with the exception of a gravel overflow parking area located in the northernmost portion of the Site.

3.2 Geology

The Site is located within the Puget lowland in the Puyallup Valley of Western Washington approximately 8.7 miles southeast of Commencement Bay. During the Holocene epoch, the region surrounding the Site was an embayment of Puget Sound. The regional geology surrounding the Site has also been influenced by periods of glaciation and nearby volcanism, resulting in Pleistocene glacial and nonglacial deposits unconformably overlying Tertiary volcanic bedrock in the area. Tertiary andesite sills and other igneous bodies intrude these glacial deposits, and ancient lahars and mudflows from nearby Mt. Rainer have filled former embayment's with layers of Holocene alluvial sands, silts, and gravels. Thin, peaty lake deposits formed in flood-plain basins in the late Holocene can be found interspersed between layers of silt, sand, and gravel. (Palmer, 1997)

As mapped by the Washington State Department of Natural Resources (DNR), surficial geology at the Site (see Figure 1-1) is primarily mapped as Quaternary peat deposits (Qp) consisting of organic and mineral sediments including peat, muck, silt, and clay deposited in closed depressions (DNR, 2022). These deposits are typically well-sorted and consist of lenses of silt and clay between layers of sand and gravel. Just south of the Site, Pleistocene bog, marsh, swamp, or lake deposits (Qgl) include gray, unsorted, unstratified, and highly compacted clay, silt, sand, gravel, and boulders deposited as a result of glaciation. Quaternary alluvium (Qa) is mapped to the north of the Site and typically consists of silts, sands, and gravels deposited in streambeds and alluvial fans with relatively undissected surfaces and can typically include some low-level terraces and lacustrine deposits. (Walsh, 1987)

In March of 2022, Krazen and Associates, Inc. completed a geotechnical investigation of the Site to evaluate subsurface soil and groundwater conditions (see Appendix A). The investigation included six Cone Penetration Tests (CPTs) and two Pilot Infiltration Tests (PITs). CPTs, designated CPT-1 through CPT-5, were used to determine geotechnical engineering properties of the soil to depths of 27 to 43.6 feet below ground surface (bgs). PIT excavations, designated IP-1 and IP-2 were excavated to depths of 7.1 and 4.7-feet bgs, respectively, and together with CPT borings were used to determine soil and groundwater conditions including depth of soils and surficial alluvial deposits.

Investigations showed subsurface geology and aquifer characteristics are heterogenous and highly variable throughout the site. Investigations at CPT-4 and 5 and IP-2 located in paved areas encountered the following stratigraphy from the surface downward:

- 3 to 3.5 inches of asphalt pavement
- 6 to 7.5 inches of gravel base course materials, consisting of moist, brown, silty sand (SM) (found at the surface in unpaved areas)
- Approximately 3 feet of undocumented fill materials presumably from offsite sources. Fill materials consist of sand, gravel, chunks of asphalt pavement, broken clay pipe, etc.

\\stmfa01.file.core.windows.net\final-dir\2303.02 Barghausen ARCO Puyallup\Document\001.2022.05.13 CARA Report\Rf_CARA Puyallup ARCO.docx

- Highly compressible, very soft to medium stiff organic silt, peat, sandy silt, and clay ranging in thickness from 9.5 feet in the northern areas (CPT-1) to 2 feet in the central areas (CPT-2), and as little as 1 foot in the southern areas (CPT-3, 4, and 5)
- Very loose to medium dense alluvial sand with varying silt content to a depth of approximately 20 to 23 feet bgs
- A layer of dense to very dense sand with gravel to gravel with sand, approximately 12 feet thick, was observed throughout the Site extending to depths of 27 to 33 feet bgs
- Another stratum of very loose to medium dense alluvial sand, approximately 5.5 to 12 feet thick
- Dense to very dense glacial sand and gravel soils to the extent of excavation at approximately 39.1 to 46.3 feet bgs.

3.3 Aquifer Characteristics

The Puget Sound-Willamette Trough aquifer system, which stretches in a north-south direction on the western side of the Cascade Range from near the Canadian border to central Oregon, is the primary groundwater resource near and at the Site. This aquifer system is one of the principal regional groundwater systems in the Pacific Northwest and supports the bulk of Western Washingtons population and virtually all of its groundwater development. These aquifers consists mainly of unconsolidated glacial deposits that can be up to 3,000 feet thick. Discontinuous lenses of sand and gravel are the most productive aquifers in this system and generally form the upper 200 to 300 feet of the unconsolidated deposits (referred to as the sand and gravel aquifer). Underlying the sand and gravel in most of the basin are extensive non-marine deposits of late Tertiary silts and clays containing sand and gravel members that can yield moderate supplies of water. Nearly impermeable units of clay, shale, silt, siltstone, fine-grained sandstone, pyroclastic materials, and basalt underlie the Tertiary formation. (USGS, 2016)

Although groundwater levels generally fluctuate spatially and temporally, porewater pressure dissipation testing conducted during the March 2022 geotechnical investigation provide a general indication of depth to groundwater throughout the site. The depth to groundwater in CPT borings ranged between 1.2 to 3.7 feet bgs, which was similar to depths observed in monitoring wells in the northern area of the site near CPT-1 and the southern area of the Site near CPT-4, at 4.6 feet bgs and 1.5 feet bgs respectively. Although test pits IP-1 and IP-2 were excavated with the intention of conducting infiltration testing, the presence of undocumented fill material, organic silt/peat and clay, and shallow groundwater made these tests infeasible because these conditions would be expected to inhibit infiltration test water. As a result of these conditions, onsite management of stormwater by infiltration is not considered feasible (see Appendix A).

MFA reviewed Ecology water supply well reports (i.e., well logs) to identify the depth and composition of nearby groundwater aquifers and gauge the potential for migration of groundwater from the Site to these water sources. Nine Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology) water supply well reports for wells within approximately one quarter mile of the Site were reviewed (obtained from

^{\\}stmfa01.file.core.windows.net\final-dir\2303.02 Barghausen ARCO Puyallup\Document\001.2022.05.13 CARA Report\Rf_CARA Puyallup ARCO.docx

Ecology's online well database).¹ A tenth well log, for the City of Puyallup 96th Street public water supply well #27, was also reviewed because the Site is located within the area of influence (10-year time of travel) of this well. Well logs indicate that groundwater is typically present in the shallow sand and gravel aquifer at depths ranging from 5 feet bgs to 16 feet bgs. Well logs are provided in Appendix B.

Eight of the nine water wells found within one-quarter mile of the Site were screened in sand and gravel or silty sand deposits from 17 feet bgs to 30 feet bgs and one well, well tag ID BIK829, was screened in coarse sand from 5 feet bgs to 15 feet bgs. The City of Puyallup 96th Street public water supply well #27 (well log ID ACA512) is the deepest well reviewed, with a total depth of 289 feet bgs. This well is screened from 271 feet bgs to 287 feet bgs in sand and gravel deposits and produced 1,266 gallons per minute during a 72-hour well test. Well ID 49094 is 43 feet deep and terminates in 'packed' sand and gravel. The well logs indicate the depth to groundwater south of the Site is approximately 15 feet bgs, and north of the site is approximately 5 to 10 feet bgs.

MFA also reviewed Ecology water right certificate and application information to assess and determine the impact to groundwater extraction quantities near the Site (see Figure 1-1). There are two active water rights for groundwater use recorded within approximately one quarter mile of the Site. Water right permit ID G2-28849 is from May 1993, belongs to Good Samaritan Hospital located at 407 14th Street, and designates use of groundwater for emergency use and for use as boiler feedwater. Water right permit ID G2-02756 is from 1944, belongs to J. Mladinich, and designates use of groundwater for irrigation purposes. As there is no proposed extraction of groundwater associated with this project, there is no potential impact to surrounding groundwater extraction or water rights. Water rights certificates are provided in Appendix C.

As designated by Pierce County, the Site is entirely located within a CARA (Figure 1-2), which is defined by Pierce County as "an area designated by WAC 365-190-080(2) that is determined to have a critical recharge effect on aquifers used for potable water as defined by WAC 365-190-030(2)."²

According to the Washington State Department of Health (DOH) Source Water Assessment Program (SWAP) Mapping tool, the Site is entirely within the 10-year time-of-travel radius of the City of Puyallup 96th Street public water supply well #27 (see Figure 3-1) (DOH, 2018). The well log for this water well (well ID ACA512) is presented in Appendix B and shows the well is screened in sand and gravel deposits between 271 feet and 287 feet bgs.

As shown on Figure 3-1, the Site is closer in proximity to the City of Puyallup 15th & 9th Street public water supply well #13 than the 96th Street public water supply well #27, however the SWAP mapping

¹ State of Washington Department of Ecology Well Report Viewer, available at <u>https://appswr.ecology.wa.gov/wellconstruction/map/WCLSWebMap/default.aspx</u>

² City of Puyallup municipal code chapter 21.06.210 (27), available at <u>https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Puyallup/html/Puyallup21/Puyallup2106.html#21.06.140</u>

tool does not show the Site being in any time-of- travel radius of this well, indicating there is no potential for Site operations to impact water quality at this well.

3.4 Groundwater Quality

Groundwater water quality data for the City of Puyallup 96th Street public water supply well #27 (well log ID ACA512) were accessed through the DOH Office of Drinking Water. Water from this well has been tested for a broad suite of potential contaminants, including volatile organic compounds, pesticides, herbicides, radionuclides, metals, nitrates, and coliform bacteria. Between 1978 and 2019, test results have indicated the presence of E. Coli one time and total coliforms eleven times. Additionally, there have been a total of 20 exceedances of secondary U.S. Environmental Protection Agency maximum contaminant levels (MCLs) for manganese, five exceedances of secondary MCLs for iron, and four exceedances of primary MCLs for trihalomethane. Water quality testing results for the City of Puyallup 96th Street public water supply well #27 are presented in Appendix D.

MFA also reviewed the Ecology Environmental Information Management (EIM) System for groundwater data associated with environmental monitoring programs within approximately one-half mile of the Site ³. EIM environmental monitoring data was found for six monitoring wells (ASG549 through ASG553, and ASG595) at a former Leaking Underground Storage Tank (LUST) site located at 1502 S. Meridian Street approximately 350 ft south of the Site and includes monitoring of a broad suite of potential chemical contaminants. The Ecology Cleanup and Tank Search website shows a No Further Action (NFA) determination was issued for this site in 2012 (Cleanup Site ID: 3491).⁴

4 BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES

The proposed development and future use of the Site will create two potential pathways for contaminants to migrate to groundwater:

- Leaks of gasoline and diesel fuel from the UST system (USTs, underground piping, and dispensers) and discharge of the leaked fuel to groundwater. The USTs will fully comply with the regulations and reporting requirements outlined in Chapter 173-360A of the Washington Administrative Code (WAC).
- Leaks of petroleum products from the oil/water separators and associated piping and discharge of the petroleum products to groundwater. The oil/water separators will fully comply with the regulations and reporting requirements outlined in Chapter 173-360A of the WAC.

³ State of Washington Department of Ecology Environmental Information Management System, available at <u>https://ecology.wa.gov/Research-Data/Data-resources/Environmental-Information-Management-database</u>

⁴ State of Washington Department of Ecology Cleanup and Tank Search, available at <u>https://ecology.wa.gov/Spills-</u> <u>Cleanup/Contamination-cleanup/Cleanup-sites</u>

^{\\}stmfa01.file.core.windows.net\final-dir\2303.02 Barghausen ARCO Puyallup\Document\001.2022.05.13 CARA Report\Rf_CARA Puyallup ARCO.docx

To best address these potential contaminant pathways, the structural and operational BMPs described in sections 4.1 and 4.2 should be implemented during construction and operation of the fueling station.

4.1 Structural Best Management Practices

The following structural BMPs will be implemented to prevent negative impacts to groundwater:

- Fuel dispenser areas will be hydraulically separated from other areas of the Site by grade breaks that route water collected under the canopy to an oil/water separator prior to discharge to the sanitary sewer system.
- The car wash will be hydraulically separated from other areas of the Site. Wastewater from the car wash will be collected in floor drains and conveyed to a reclaim system for treatment and will either be reused in the wash cycle or discharged to the sanitary sewer system. The overflow and rinse water will be routed through an oil/water separator prior to discharge to the sanitary sewer system.
- Stormwater runoff from impervious surfaces outside of the fuel dispenser area and car wash will be conveyed via catch basins and roof drains to a detention vault, which provides flow control, and then to an oil/water separator. Stormwater will be conveyed from the oil/water separator to a modular wetland for enhanced water quality treatment prior to discharge to the municipal storm sewer system.
- The MWS Linear stormwater treatment cell and detention vault will be sized per requirements in the 2019 Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington (SWMMWW) (Ecology, 2019) and the General Use Level Designation (GULD) (Ecology, 2018) and installed per manufacturer's specifications.
- Emergency shutoff valves will be positioned throughout the facility to ensure that pollutants do not enter the system in the event of an emergency spill.
- USTs and associated underground piping will be constructed to meet the performance standards outlined in WAC 173-360A-0310, which include the use of secondary containment, under-dispenser containment, double wall construction, spill-prevention equipment, and overfill-prevention equipment.
- Dumpsters and other bulk waste containers will be located in a trash enclosure area, which will be graded to prevent run-on from adjacent areas. All containers in this area will have solid lids, and lids will remain on (or closed) when not in use.

4.2 Operational Best Management Practices

The following operational BMPs will be implemented to prevent negative impacts to groundwater.

• Operation and maintenance plans for the oil/water separators and the USTs and associated underground piping will be developed and maintained in accordance with the requirements of WAC 173-360A-0545.

- While the fueling station is operational, at least one individual will be trained as a Class A, Class B, or Class C UST operator, as specified in WAC 173-360A-0510 through 0550.
- Signage will be posted in easily visible areas to provide emergency response information, including contact information for the facility operator and first responders as well as the location of emergency shutoff devices at the fueling station and stormwater filtration equipment, as required in WAC 173-360A-0550.
- Spill-prevention equipment and release-detection equipment will be visually inspected at least every 30 days, or prior to each delivery if deliveries take place less frequently than 30 days, as specified in WAC 173-360A-0420. Inspections will be documented, and records maintained for at least three years.
- USTs and associated underground piping will be monitored for leaks, using one of the applicable methods or a combination of methods specified in WAC 173-360A-0610 and WAC 173-360A-0615, and will be certified in writing by the manufacturer, vendor, or installer to be capable of meeting performance standards for the given leak-detection method. USTs and underground piping will be monitored for leaks at least every 30 days.
- Oil/water separators will be regularly inspected and maintained and cleaned of debris, sediments, and oil as needed to prevent the discharge of these materials to the municipal sewer systems.
- The modular wetland will be operated and maintained per the manufacturer's guidelines.
- Paved areas that deliver stormwater runoff to the modular wetland will be swept regularly.
- The property owner, management, and subcontractors will be made aware of other BMPs as necessary and relevant (e.g., good fertilization practices, routing wash waters to the approved off-site discharge location, and similar).

4.3 Groundwater Monitoring Plan Provisions

As no development activities that will negatively impact groundwater quantity or quality are planned, no groundwater monitoring program is currently warranted. The proposed USTs and associated equipment will be monitored regularly for leaks, as described above. The potential for groundwater contamination is low, as underlying sand and gravel aquifers are heterogeneous and discontinuous and do not allow for rapid migration of groundwater to surrounding units. Additionally, as described by USGS (2016) and DNR (2022), and as observed in well log ID ACA512 (City of Puyallup 96th Street public water supply well #27)(See Appendix B), layers of silt throughout the shallow sand and gravel aquifers further reduce the potential for migration of contaminants from shallow to deeper aquifers. Should a release of petroleum products be detected, the need for groundwater monitoring will be reevaluated.

4.4 Spill Plan

A spill prevention and cleanup plan, including contact information and cleanup procedures developed for the fueling station, is provided in Appendix E.

PREDICTIVE EVALUATION

5.1 Effects on Nearby Groundwater Quantity

As there are no plans to withdraw groundwater as part of the proposed site development, no effects on groundwater withdrawal at nearby wells are expected.

5.2 Effects on Nearby Groundwater Quality

All stormwater from fueling dispenser areas will be pretreated via oil/water separators and routed to the City of Puyallup sanitary sewer system. Stormwater from all other impervious areas of the Site will be treated via oil/water separators and MWS Linear stormwater treatment units prior to discharge to the City of Puyallup storm sewer system. The MWS Linear unit is approved for for enhanced water quality treatment by Ecology.

The proposed UST system will be located entirely within heterogeneous alluvium consisting of sand and/or sand and gravel with many clay-rich layers that are likely to disrupt downward migration of groundwater. Localized perched shallow groundwater surrounding the Site is unconfined, discontinuous, and seasonally variable, and nearby shallow aquifers are compartmentalized and heterogeneous with significant intervals of fine-grained low-permeability clay layers that limit the potential for significant contaminant migration. Further disrupting downward migration of groundwater are thick layers of nearly impermeable clays that underly shallow alluvial aquifers. The combination of BMPs and stormwater treatment prior to discharge offsite to city facilities further limit the potential for release of contaminants to groundwater or contaminant migration via groundwater.

Based on the combination of stormwater treatment and the BMPs described above, including the presence of secondary containment and ongoing leak detection associated with the proposed UST system, the proposed development is not expected to result in any release to the environment that may impact groundwater. These factors indicate that the proposed development of the Site is not expected to have an impact on groundwater quality at the Site or in nearby groundwater wells including City of Puyallup municipal water sources.

The services undertaken in completing this report were performed consistent with generally accepted professional consulting principles and practices. No other warranty, express or implied, is made. These services were performed consistent with our agreement with our client. This report is solely for the use and information of our client unless otherwise noted. Any reliance on this report by a third party is at such party's sole risk.

Opinions and recommendations contained in this report apply to conditions existing when services were performed and are intended only for the client, purposes, locations, time frames, and project parameters indicated. We are not responsible for the impacts of any changes in environmental standards, practices, or regulations subsequent to performance of services. We do not warrant the accuracy of information supplied by others, or the use of segregated portions of this report.

City of Puyallup Website. 2021. City of Puyallup – Zoning Map. https://puyallup.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=7db74365140b4991a189779 59d8d0f56 (accessed May 3, 2022)

DOH. 2018. Source Water Assessment Program (SWAP) Mapping Tool. Washington State Department of Health. <u>https://doh.wa.gov/community-and-environment/drinking-water/source-water/gis-mapping-tool</u> (accessed May 3, 2022).

DNR. 2022. Washington Geologic Information Portal. Washington State Department of Natural Resources. <u>https://www.dnr.wa.gov/geologyportal</u> (accessed May 4, 2022)

Ecology. 2022. Washington State well report viewer. Washington State Department of Ecology. <u>https://appswr.ecology.wa.gov/wellconstruction/map/WCLSWebMap/default.aspx</u> (accessed May 3, 2022).

Ecology. 2022. Water rights search. Washington State Department of Ecology. <u>https://appswr.ecology.wa.gov/waterrighttrackingsystem/WaterRights/default.aspx</u> (accessed May 3, 2022).

Palmer, Stephen P. 1997. Holocene Geologic History and Sedimentology of the Duwamish and Puyallup Valleys, Washington. Washington Department of Natural Resources, Geology and Earth Resources Division.

https://www.dnr.wa.gov/Publications/ger_misc_holocene_duwamish_puyallup.pdf (accessed May 3, 2022).

Ecology. 2019. *Stormwater management manual for Western Washington*. *Publication Number 19-10-021*. Washington State Department of Ecology.

https://fortress.wa.gov/ecy/ezshare/wq/Permits/Flare/2019SWMMWW/2019SWMMWW.htm (accessed February 26, 2022). July.

U.S. Climate Data. 2022. Climate Puyallup Washington. <u>https://www.usclimatedata.com/climate/puyallup/washington/united-states/uswa0357</u> (accessed May 3, 2022)

USGS. 2016. Groundwater Atlas of the United States. U.S. Department of the Interior, U.S. Geological Survey. <u>https://pubs.usgs.gov/ha/ha730/ch_h/H-</u> text10.html#:~:text=The%20Puget%2DWilliamette%20Trough%20aquifer,and%20industry%20in %20Segment%207. (accessed May 3, 2022).

Walsh, T. J. 1987. Geologic Map of the South Half of the Tacoma Quadrangle, Washington. Washington Department of Geology and Earth Resources. Open File Report 87-3. https://acrobat.adobe.com/link/review?uri=urn:aaid:scds:US:2157345e-3de2-30d3-9fbc-efc47a57438b (accessed May 3, 2022).

\\stmfa01.file.core.windows.net\final-dir\2303.02 Barghausen ARCO Puyallup\Document\001.2022.05.13 CARA Report\Rf_CARA Puyallup ARCO.docx

FIGURES











APPENDIX A GEOTECHNICAL REPORT





> GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING INVESTIGATION PROPOSED ARCO AMPM FUELING FACILITY 1402 S MERIDIAN AVENUE PUYALLUP, WASHINGTON

> > **PROJECT NO. 062-22010** May 6, 2022

Prepared for:

BP PRODUCTS NORTH AMERICA, INC. 30 South Wacker Drive, suite 900 Chicago, IL 60606

Prepared by:

KRAZAN & ASSOCIATES, INC. GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING DIVISION 825 CENTER STREET, STE A TACOMA, WASHINGTON 98409 (253) 939-2500



May 6, 2022

KA Project No. 062-22010

BP Products North America Inc.

30 South Wacker Drive, Suite 900 Chicago, IL 60606

Attn: Mr. Randall Arnold Email: randall.arnold@sevansolutions.com Tel: (206) 310.1851

Reference: Geotechnical Engineering Investigation Proposed ARCO ampm Fueling Facility 1402 S Meridian Avenue Puyallup, WA

Dear Mr. Arnold,

In accordance with your request, we have completed a Geotechnical Engineering Investigation for the referenced site. The results of our investigation are presented in the attached report.

If you have any questions, or if we can be of further assistance, please do not hesitate to contact our office.

Respectfully submitted, KRAZAN & ASSOCIATES, INC.

Shewsa R. Muman

Theresa R. Nunan Project Manager



TABLE OF CONTENTS

| INTRODUCTION | |
|---|------------|
| PURPOSE AND SCOPE | 1 |
| PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION | |
| SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION | |
| GEOLOGIC SETTING | |
| FIELD INVESTIGATION | 4 |
| SOIL PROFILE AND SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS | |
| GEOLOGIC HAZARDS | |
| Erosion Concern/Hazard | 6 |
| Steep Slope Hazard | 6 |
| Seismic Hazard | 7 |
| CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS | |
| General | |
| Stormwater Infiltration | |
| Site Preparation | |
| Dewatering | |
| Temporary Excavation | |
| Underground Storage Tanks (USTs) Utility Trenches and Backfill | |
| Structural Fill. | |
| Foundation Recommendations | |
| Floor Slabs and Exterior Flatwork | |
| Lateral Earth Pressures and Retaining Walls | |
| Erosion and Sediment Control. | |
| Groundwater Influence on Structures and Earthwork Construction | |
| Drainage and Landscaping Pavement Design | |
| Testing and Inspection. | |
| | |
| LIMITATIONS | |
| VICINITY MAP | Figure 1 |
| SITE PLAN | - |
| FIELD INVESTIGATION AND LIQUEFACTION ANALYSIS | |
| EARTHWORK SPECIFICATIONS | Appendix B |
| PAVEMENT SPECIFICATIONS | Appendix C |



May 6, 2022

KA Project No. 062-22010

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING INVESTIGATION PROPOSED ARCO AMPM FUELING FACILITY 1402 S MERIDIAN AVENUE PUYALLUP, WASHINGTON

INTRODUCTION

This report presents the results of our Geotechnical Engineering Investigation for the Proposed ARCO ampm Fueling Facility located at 1402 S Meridian Avenue in Puyallup, Washington, as shown on the Vicinity Map in Figure 1. Discussions regarding site conditions are presented in this report, together with conclusions and recommendations pertaining to site preparation, excavations, foundations, structural fill, utility trench backfill, concrete slabs and exterior flatwork, drainage, erosion control, and pavements.

A site plan showing the approximate locations of the test pits is presented following the text of this report in Figure 2. A description of the field investigation and laboratory testing, as well as the test pit and Cone Penetration Test (CPT) logs, are presented in Appendix A. Appendix B contains a guide to aid in the development of earthwork specifications. Pavement design guidelines are presented in Appendix C. The recommendations in the main text of the report have precedence over the more general specifications in the appendices.

PURPOSE AND SCOPE

This investigation was conducted to evaluate the subsurface soil and groundwater conditions at the site, to develop geotechnical engineering recommendations for use in design of specific construction elements, and to provide criteria for site preparation and earthwork construction.

Our scope of services for this project was performed in general accordance with our proposal number G22018WAT dated March 24, 2022, and included the following:

- Exploration of the subsurface soil and groundwater conditions by conducting six (6) CPT borings to depths of about 27.0 to 46.3 feet below existing ground surface (bgs)using subcontracted rig and operator under the direction of a Krazan geotechnical engineer;
- Conduct two (2) small-scale Pilot Infiltration Tests (PITs), utilizing a subcontracted excavator and operator to dig the test pits and a rented water wagon for the water source;
- A Site Plan showing the CPT and PIT locations;
- Comprehensive CPT and test pit logs, including soil stratification and classification, and groundwater levels where applicable;

- Conduct laboratory testing on samples obtained from the explorations;
- Liquefaction analysis based on the data acquired from the CPTs;
- Recommendations for seismic design considerations including site coefficient and ground acceleration based on the 2018 IBC assuming that the structure <u>will have a fundamental period of vibration equal to or less than 0.5 sec or if non-liquefiable soils are encountered in our explorations;</u>
- Provide opinions and recommendations regarding stormwater infiltration feasibility and a design infiltration rate as per the 2014 Department of Ecology (DOE) Stormwater Management Manual for Western Washington (SWMMWW);
- Evaluation of the two (2) City of Puyallup mapped "landslide hazard" areas indicated on the Preliminary Site Plan, prepared by Barghausen Consulting Engineers, Inc. (Barghausen) dated July 8, 2021;
- Shallow foundation recommendations for the proposed structure, including allowable soil bearing pressure, anticipated settlements (both total and differential), coefficient of horizontal friction for footing design, and frost penetration depth;
- Deep foundation recommendations, if applicable based on the subsurface conditions encountered in the CPTs;
- Recommendations for design of slabs-on-grade, as well as subgrade preparation, slab drainage, capillary break, and/or moisture barriers;
- Recommendations for static and seismic active and passive lateral earth pressures for below grade and retaining structures, including surcharge loadings;
- Recommendations for structural fill materials, placement, and compaction;
- Recommendations for suitability of onsite soils as structural fill;
- Recommendations for temporary excavations including shoring;
- Recommendations for site drainage and erosion control; and
- Recommendations for asphalt and concrete pavement sections, including subgrade preparation recommendations for truck loading and pavement areas.

Environmental services, such as chemical analysis of soil and groundwater for possible environmental contaminants, were not included in our geotechnical engineering scope of services for this project.

KA Project No. 062-22010 Proposed ARCO ampm Fueling Facility Puyallup, WA May 6, 2022 Page No. 3

PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION

Based on the Preliminary Site Plan, Sheet SP-5, dated July 8, 2021, and the Request for Proposal (RFP) for Geotechnical Services document dated March 10, 2022, which were prepared by Barghausen, we understand that the proposed development will include construction of a 3,349 square foot, single-story ampm building at the northern end of the site, a canopy fuel island structure with eight multi-product dispensers (MPDs) in the middle of the site, with underground storage tanks planned south of the fuel island, and a 24-foot by 28-foot car wash structure located at the southern end of the site. Other site improvements include paved access drives and parking areas, paved entry driveways from S Meridian Avenue, landscaped areas, and installation of associated utilities.

We understand a typical dead load reaction of 4 kips and live load reaction of 16 kips is anticipated for each canopy column, and independent pier foundations at each column are preferred for support of the canopy structure. Although no loading information was provided for the ampm building or the carwash structure, we have assumed typical column and wall loads for these structures will not exceed 30 kips and 3 kips per lineal foot, respectively, for our soil bearing capacity and settlement analyses. We have also assumed that the existing site grades are at or within a foot of the planned finish grades.

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION

The subject property consists of four parcels (APNs 770000021, -31, -281, and -288) that encompass 1.18 acres of land located at 1402 S Meridian Avenue in Puyallup. The site is bordered by Highway 512 to the north, and entry drive and commercial development to the south, S Meridian Avenue to the east, and commercial development and Highway 512 to the west. Historical aerial photos indicate the site was agricultural farmland from at least 1940 to around the mid-70's. The existing one-story restaurant building was constructed in 1976 based on parcel information presented on the Pierce County Parcel and Property Information web portal. The remainder of the site is asphalt paved parking areas and access drives, with the exception of the northernmost portion of the site which served as gravel surfaced overflow parking. Numerous underground utilities are located within the site, and especially within the utility corridor transecting the southern half of the gravel-surfaced lot in an east-west direction.

We have reviewed the Land Title Survey, prepared by Barghausen, dated April 19, 2022. The site is relatively level with the ground surface generally sloping east to west, and ranging from Elev. 47 to 49 feet. The land surrounding the general vicinity of the site is generally higher in elevation and slopes towards the project site. There is an isolated slope in the southeast corner of the site, at the access drive to the site from S Meridian Ave., which is roughly 8 feet in height and has an inclination of about 30 degrees (58 percent). This slope is partially supported by stacked rock boulders that showed signs of erosion and instability. There is another isolated slope near the northwestern property line (outside the site boundary, Highway 512 off-ramp embankment), which is roughly 7 feet in height and has an inclination of about 14 degrees (25 percent). Signs of significant erosion or slope instability were not

observed along the northwestern slope during our site visit. A drainage ditch is situated between Hwy 512 and the northern side of the site. Water was observed over a portion of this drainage ditch to a depth of 1-foot or less during our field work on March 28, 2022.

Two existing monitoring wells were observed on the property. One monitoring well is located within the northeastern portion of the gravel lot, and a second monitoring well (DOE # BJI 189) is located in the paved parking area south of the existing building.

GEOLOGIC SETTING

The site lies within the Puget Lowland, a north-south trending depression bounded by the Cascade Mountain Range in the east, and the Olympic Mountains in the west. The surficial geology of the Puget Lowland has been shaped by glacial activity that deposited sediments during numerous cycles of advance and retreat over the past 2 million years.

The Washington Department of Natural Resources (DNR) Geologic Information Portal website indicates that the property is located in an area that is predominantly underlain by Quaternary alluvium (Qa) consisting of "unconsolidated or semiconsolidated alluvial clay, silt, sand, gravel, and (or) cobble deposits; locally includes peat, muck, and diatomite". The southern portion of the site, extending south from about the southern side of the existing restaurant building, is mapped as Continental Glacial Drift (Qgd) consisting of "till and outwash clay, silt, sand, gravel, cobbles, and boulders deposited or originating from continental glaciers; locally includes peat, nonglacial sediments, modified land, and artificial fill".

FIELD INVESTIGATION

Six (6) Cone Penetration Tests (CPTs) were completed to evaluate the subsurface soil and groundwater conditions at the project location. The CPTs were conducted on March 30, 2022, using a subcontracted test rig and operator under the direction of a Krazan geotechnical engineer. The CPTs, designated CPT-1 through CPT-5 and CPT-2B, were advanced to depths of 27.0 to 46.3 feet bgs. The CPT method consists of pushing an instrumented cone into the ground at a controlled rate and recording measured soil parameters, such as tip resistance, friction ration, and pore pressure. In addition, shear wave testing was also conducted every 3 feet in CPT-2B, CPT-4, and CPT-5. These measured parameters are used to determine geotechnical engineering properties of the soils encountered and to delineate soil stratigraphy, particularly for use with seismic and liquefaction analyses, and to develop seismic design parameters. Soil samples are not obtained with cone penetration testing.

Infiltration Testing: Two infiltration test pits, designated IP-1 and IP-2, were excavated at the site on March 28, 2022, at the locations indicated on the Site Plan, Figure 2, to conduct small scale PITs. Test pits IP-1 and IP-2 were excavated to depths of 7.1 and 4.7 feet bgs and to a bottom area of 18.5 and 13.0 sf, respectively. The subsurface soil and groundwater conditions encountered in the test pits are described

in the following section of this report. Based on the subsurface conditions encountered, infiltration testing was not conducted in the test pits or at any other location on the site.

A detailed description of the field investigation is presented in Appendix A. The logs for the CPTs depict soil stratigraphy based on published correlations of the measured cone tip resistance and side friction with soil types. The test pit and CPT logs are also included in Appendix A. The approximate locations of the test pits and CPTs are shown on the Site Plan in Figure 2.

SOIL PROFILE AND SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS

Our field investigation exposed undocumented fill underlain by native alluvial and glacial soil deposits to the termination depths of the test pits and CPT explorations. The relative density and/or consistency of the soils described below are based on either observation of the excavation effort of the equipment used to conduct the test pits, or on the measured tip resistances of the cone for the CPTs.

Asphalt Pavement and Undocumented Fill: CPT-4, CPT-5, and IP-2 were conducted within the paved areas of the site and encountered 3 to 3.5 inches of asphalt pavement underlain by 6 to 7.5 inches of moist, brown, silty sand (SM) with gravel base course material. Up to roughly 3 feet of undocumented fill was encountered beneath the base course material and at the ground surface in the remaining explorations.

Native Alluvial and Glacial Soils: The undocumented fill was underlain by highly compressible, very soft to medium stiff organic silt, peat, sandy silt, and clay followed by very loose to medium dense sand with varying silt content to a depth of about 20 to 23 feet bgs. The compressible alluvial soils ranged from about 2 feet thick in CPT-2 and CPT-2B to up to 9.5 feet thick in CPT-1 conducted within the northeastern portion of the site, to occasional layers up to 1-foot thick in the explorations conducted within the southern part of the site (CPT-3, CPT-4, and CPT-5).

An approximately 12-foot thick layer of dense to very dense sand with gravel to gravel with sand was encountered beneath the loose alluvial sands in CPT-2 and CPT-2B, and extended to depths of 27 to 33 feet bgs in the remaining CPTs due to refusal of the cone to further penetration in this dense soil layer.

The dense sand in CPT-2 and CPT-2B was underlain by another stratum of very loose to medium dense alluvial sand ranging from about 5.5 to 12 feet thick, followed by dense to very dense glacial sand and gravel soils to their termination depths at about 39.1 and 46.3 feet bgs, respectively.

Groundwater: Porewater pressure dissipation tests conducted on March 30, 2022 in the CPTs indicated a groundwater level ranging between 1.2 to 3.7 feet bgs. Shallow groundwater was also encountered in the test pits; however, after waiting 3 hours the water level was still rising so the test pits were backfilled for safety reasons. Two monitoring wells installed by others, one near CPT-1 and the other near CPT-4, indicated water levels at 4.6 and 1.5 feet bgs. A manhole cover for the communications line at the northeast

side of the site was removed during our March 28, 2022 site visit and the water level was measured at a depth of about 5.5 feet bgs.

It should be recognized that groundwater elevations generally fluctuate with time. The groundwater level will be dependent upon seasonal precipitation, irrigation, land use, climatic conditions, as well as other factors. Therefore, groundwater levels at the time of our field investigation may be different from those encountered during the construction phase of the project. The evaluation of such factors was beyond the scope of this report. Design and operation of temporary dewatering systems to remove or lower groundwater to facilitate construction should be the responsibility of the contractor.

The subsurface soils encountered in the test pits and CPTs were in general agreement with the mapped geology for the project area. Groundwater conditions were consistent with the available DOE well data in the site vicinity.

Shear Wave Velocity: Shear wave velocity were obtained from the CPT-2B, CPT-4, and CPT-5, which were advanced to depths of about 27.0 to 46.3 feet bgs. The shear wave velocities were measured to the maximum explored depth, and we have assumed similar site conditions continue below the explored depth. The measured shear wave velocities to the maximum explored depth ranged from about 333 feet per second to 1680 feet per second. The average measured shear wave velocities in the upper 100 feet were estimated to be in the range of 778 to 1217 <u>feet per second</u>.

GEOLOGIC HAZARDS

Erosion Concern/Hazard

The USDA Natural Resources Conservation Services (NRCS) map for Pierce County Area, Washington (WA653), classifies the soils in the site area as Shalcar muck (38A), 0 to 1 percent slopes. These soils are formed from organic material over alluvium deposited in flood plains, and are considered very poorly drained. The typical shallow soil profile consists of muck and peat over silty clay and fine sandy loam. The NRCS Soil Survey indicates that the Shalcar muck soils belong to Hydrologic Soil Group D, whereby surface runoff is slow, and the erosion hazard is very low due to flowing water or wind. The majority of the site is presently gravel-surfaced or asphalt paved, with the sloping ground along the northern, southern, and eastern sides of the property covered with grass, landscaping, and trees. Measures to address potential erosion during construction are presented in the Erosion and Sediment Control (ESC) section of this report.

<u>Steep Slope Hazard</u>

Review of the City of Puyallup Hazards Map website indicate that there is an isolated slope in the northwestern corner of the site, which has been mapped as moderate susceptibility to deep seated landslide. There are slopes near the southeastern portion of the site that have been mapped as moderate susceptibility to deep seated landslide as well. During our site visit we did not observe signs of recent slide scarps,

KA Project No. 062-22010 Proposed ARCO ampm Fueling Facility Puyallup, WA May 6, 2022 Page No. 7

tension cracks, or slumps within the site that would indicate current deep-seated instability on the slopes within or near the property. Signs of shallow soil movement and soil creep, such as curved tree trunks, were not observed on either of the slope areas. Based on our exploration and surficial site reconnaissance, it is our opinion the mapped landslide hazard areas should not have an adverse effect on the proposed site development or vice-versa.

Although the southeastern slope does not show signs of shallow or deep-seated hazard, this man-made embankment does show signs of construction-related issues with regard to erosion and instability. Rock boulders in a sand matrix appear to support the southern slope embankment from the corner near the intersection of S Meridian Ave. extending westward. Loose sand was noted between some of the rock boulders and a steel T-probe was able to penetrate to a depth of at least 3.5 feet bgs, while voids were noted at other locations between the rock boulders. Signs of erosion were evident in the bare section of the embankment, and it appears rebar rods have been inserted into the ground near the top of slope at this location possibly as a measure to hinder lateral movement. We recommend the erosion and instability concerns for this constructed embankment slope be addressed by either 1) re-constructing the access road embankment from its intersection with S Meridian Ave. down to the site level or 2) injecting high strength grout into this portion of the embankment through a series of horizontal and vertical holes. All bare areas should then be properly vegetated following remediation of this portion of the southeaster slope.

<u>Seismic Hazard</u>

The 2018 International Building Code (IBC), Section 1613.3.2, refers to Chapter 20 of ASCE 7-16 for Site Class Definitions. The site soil conditions encountered in CPT-2B, CPT-4 and CPT-5 correspond to "Site Class F" based on their liquefaction potential and, therefore, require a site-specific response analysis as per Section 20.3.1 of ASCE 7-16, unless the structure's fundamental period of vibration is equal to or less than 0.5 seconds. We have assumed that the structure will have a fundamental period of vibration of equal to or less than 0.5 seconds. Therefore, a site response analysis was not performed. Based on this exception, the site class was determined as per Section 20.3 of ASCE 7-16. The spectral accelerations were determined as per Sections 11.4.4 and 11.4.5 of ASCE 7-16.

The mapped Risk-Targeted Maximum Considered Earthquake (MCER) spectral response parameters for short periods and at 1 second (S_s and S_l) were obtained from the Applied Technology Council (ATC) Hazards website, which utilizes the most updated published data on seismic conditions from the United States Geological Survey. The site coefficients (F_a and F_v) for "Site Class D" were selected based on the estimated average shear wave velocity of 1217, 778, and 899 feet per second in the upper 100 feet of cone penetration tests CPT-2B, CPT-4, and CPT-5, respectively. The spectral response acceleration parameters (S_{MS} , S_{DS} , S_{Ml} , S_{Dl}) and short period (Ts) were determined as per Sections 11.4.4. 11.4.5, and 11.4.6 of ASCE 7-16. The seismic design parameters for this site are based on a Risk Category II for the proposed structure and are presented in Table 1:

| Seismic Item | Value |
|---------------------------------|---------|
| Site Coefficient F _a | 1.000 |
| Ss | 1.268 |
| S_{MS} | 0.1.268 |
| S _{DS} | 0.846 |
| Site Coefficient Fv | 1.863 |
| \mathbf{S}_1 | 0.437 |
| S_{M1} | 0.814 |
| \mathbf{S}_{D1} | 0.543 |
| Ts | 0.642 |

Table 1: Seismic Design Parameters*(Reference: 2018 IBC Section 1613.2.2, ASCE 7-16, and ATC)

*Based on Equivalent Lateral Force (ELF) Design Procedure being used.

Note: If the structure's fundamental period of vibration exceeds 0.5 seconds, a site response analysis will be required, which is beyond the scope of this report.

Additional seismic considerations include liquefaction potential and amplification of ground motions by loose/soft soil deposits. The liquefaction potential is highest for loose sand with a high groundwater table. Soil liquefaction is a state where soil particles lose contact with each other and become suspended in a viscous fluid. This suspension of the soil grains results in a complete loss of strength as the effective stress drops to zero. Liquefaction normally occurs under saturated conditions in soils such as sand in which the strength is purely frictional. However, liquefaction has occurred in soils other than clean sand. Liquefaction usually occurs under vibratory conditions such as those induced by seismic events.

We have reviewed the Washington DNR Geologic Information web-portal interactive map, the liquefaction Susceptibility Map of Pierce County, Washington (Palmer et al., 2004), and the USDA Soil Survey Map (WA653) with regards to soils and liquefaction susceptibility. The maps indicate that the site is underlain by alluvial soils with the surface soils generally consisting of Shalcar muck (an organic, peat type soil). The Shalcar muck is not susceptible to liquefaction but may experience large displacements during an earthquake event. The alluvial soils are highly susceptible to liquefaction. The Hazard Zones are based on the combined effects of ground shaking amplification, liquefaction, and earthquake-induce landslides. At the request of our client, we have conducted a site-specific liquefaction analysis for this project.

To evaluate the liquefaction potential of the site, we analyzed the following factors:

- 1) Soil type
- 2) Groundwater depth
- 3) Relative soil density
- 4) Initial confining pressure
- 5) Maximum anticipated intensity and duration of ground shaking

Liquefaction Analysis: The commercially available liquefaction analysis software, NovoCPT from NovoTech, was used to evaluate the liquefaction potential and the possible liquefaction induced settlement for the site soil and groundwater conditions based on our explorations. The analysis was performed using the information from seismic cone penetration tests CPT-2B and CPT-5. The Maximum Considered Earthquake (MCE) was selected in accordance with the 2018 International Building Code (IBC) Chapter 16 and the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) Earthquake Hazards Program website. For this analysis, a maximum earthquake magnitude of 7.1 and peak horizontal ground surface acceleration of 0.70g were used.

We ran our analyses for groundwater at a depth of 1-foot bgs during the earthquake. Our analyses indicated that the soils from the depth that groundwater was encountered to about 14 feet bgs were liquefiable under the maximum earthquake magnitude of 7.1. The maximum liquefaction induced settlement for this type of seismic event is estimated to be on the order of approximately 1.3 to 2.4 inches (total settlement). The dynamic differential settlement is estimated to be on the order of about $\frac{1}{4}$ to 1-inch over 50 feet.

The CPT data revealed two zones of liquefiable soils at the site. The upper zone encountered interbedded liquefiable layers ranging from 1 to 4 feet thick between a depth of about 4 to 21.5 feet bgs. A second deeper zone contained frequent liquefiable soil layers up to 1-foot thick from a depth of about 33 to 43 feet bgs. The deeper liquefaction zone accounted for roughly sixty percent of the total dynamic settlement.

Liquefaction-induced lateral spreading is lateral displacement of gently sloping ground as a result of pore pressure build-up or liquefaction in shallow deposits during an earthquake. The conditions conducive to lateral spreading include gentle surface slope, shallow water table, and liquefiable cohesionless soils. Based on the relatively shallow groundwater level and sand soils encountered in the explorations, about 4 to 10 inches of lateral spreading could occur as a result of a 7.1 magnitude earthquake event.

The liquefaction analysis plots showing the factor of safety, vertical settlement, and lateral displacement are presented in Appendix A.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

<u>General</u>

It is our opinion from a geotechnical standpoint that the site is compatible with the planned development, **provided that the geotechnical recommendations presented in this report are included in the project design and implemented during construction**.

Our field explorations at this site encountered very loose to medium dense sands with varying silt content, as well as highly compressible, very soft to soft organic silt/peat (Shalcar muck), clay, and sandy silt soils to a depth of about 23 feet bgs. These soils are considered unsuitable bearing soils for support of the proposed ampm building on a shallow foundation system. In addition, our liquefaction analyses indicated that the soils within the upper 21.5 feet of the site, as well as the soils encountered in a deeper zone between a depth of roughly 33 to 43 feet bgs, are liquefiable under a maximum earthquake magnitude of 7.1. The maximum liquefaction induced settlement for this type of seismic event is estimated to be on the order of approximately <u>1.3 to 2.4 inches (total settlement)</u>, with dynamic <u>differential settlement</u> estimated to be on the order of about <u>1/4 to 1-inch over 50 feet</u>. Therefore, a deep foundation system is recommended for support of the proposed ampm building. A shallow foundation system may be considered for the fuel canopy and car wash structures, provided a portion of the unsuitable soils are over-excavated and replaced with structural fill <u>and the risks associated with seismic-induced settlement are deemed acceptable</u>. Recommendations for shallow and deep foundations are presented in the Foundations section of this report.

Due to the shallow groundwater level and very loose to medium dense soils encountered at the proposed location of the USTs, temporary dewatering and shoring of the excavation sidewalls is anticipated to allow for installation of the tanks.

The subsurface soils encountered on this site during our field exploration are considered extremely moisture-sensitive and may disturb easily in wet conditions. We recommend that construction take place during the drier summer months, if possible. In our opinion, the onsite undocumented fill and native soils are considered unsuitable for re-use as structural fill, and the cost to import structural fill should be included in the project budget.

Stormwater Infiltration

The City of Puyallup Municipal Code has adopted the 2014 (DOE) SWMMWW. The SWMMWW references the small-scale PIT for field infiltration testing. We excavated two test pits, IP-1 and IP-2, at the site to conduct infiltration testing. However, due to the presence of undocumented fill material, organic silt/peat (Shalcar muck) and clay, and shallow groundwater, field infiltration tests were not conducted. Based on the subsurface soil and groundwater conditions encountered at the site, it is our opinion that onsite management of stormwater by infiltration is not considered feasible.

KA Project No. 062-22010 Proposed ARCO ampm Fueling Facility Puyallup, WA May 6, 2022 Page No. 11

Site Preparation

General site clearing should include removal of topsoil material, asphaltic concrete, abandoned utilities, and structures including foundations, slabs, rubble, and trash, down to native suitable soils. In addition, any buried structures, such as grease traps, septic tanks, underground storage tanks, debris pits, cesspools, or similar structures, should be completely removed and backfilled with structural fill.

The undocumented fill and the native very loose sands and very soft to medium stiff organic silt/peat, clay, and sandy or clayey silt encountered in our field explorations are considered unsuitable for support of the ampm building, fuel canopy structure, car wash structure, floor slabs and exterior slabs-on-grade, and pavement loads. Based on the shallow groundwater levels encountered in our explorations conducted in March 2022, temporary dewatering measures will likely be required to conduct the over-excavation of unsuitable soils, especially if construction takes place during the "wet weather" season.

We recommend the undocumented fill and unsuitable native soils be over-excavated to a depth of at least 2 feet below the footing bearing level for shallow foundations or the planned subgrade elevation for slabson-grade or pavements. Deeper excavations may be required if soft and yielding soil conditions are exposed at the bottom of the over-excavation. A layer of rock spalls should be placed on the excavation bottom and tamped in-place to provide a stable working surface for placement of structural fill. We recommend a high-strength geotextile separation fabric, such as Mirafi 600X or equivalent, then be placed over the rock spalls. After the fabric is placed, the area should be filled to the planned pavement subgrade elevation with structural fill. The structural fill should be compacted to at least 95 percent of the maximum dry density (ASTM D1557) and to within 2 percent of the optimum moisture content. In-place density tests should be performed to verify proper moisture content and adequate compaction levels are achieved in the structural fill.

An existing restaurant building is located within the eastern central portion of the property where the Canopy and fuel pumps are planned, and extends into part of the proposed area of the future USTs. The debris from demolition of the existing building should be hauled off-site. As-built records for the existing building were not available at the time of this report. Assuming the restaurant is supported on a shallow foundation system, then existing concrete footings should be completely removed within the footprint of the canopy structure, and to a depth of at least 1-foot below the planned subgrade elevation in new pavement or exterior slab-on-grade areas. If the existing building is pile supported, the type and location of the piles will need to be evaluated prior to or during construction as information becomes available to determine if the piles should be left in-place, or partially or completely removed.

Krazan & Associates should be onsite full-time during the demolition activities to document that all belowgrade structures have been properly removed and backfilled with properly placed and compacted structural fill, and that the resulting debris from the demolition activities has been hauled off-site and not re-used as fill at any location on the property.

KA Project No. 062-22010 Proposed ARCO ampm Fueling Facility Puyallup, WA May 6, 2022 Page No. 12

All existing utilities should be completely removed from within planned structure areas. For any utility line to be considered acceptable to remain, i.e. be abandoned in-place, within the structure footprint, the utility line must be completely filled with grout or sand-cement slurry, the ends outside the building area capped with concrete, and the existing trench backfill removed and replaced with properly placed and compacted structural fill. Assessment of the level of risk posed by a particular utility line to the structure will determine whether the utility may be abandoned in-place or needs to be completely removed. The risks associated with abandoning utilities in-place include the potential for future differential settlement of existing trench fills and/or potential ground loss into utility lines that are not completely filled with grout if the abandonment requirements stated above are not followed.

Based on our field explorations, the near surface soils expected to be encountered at the site during construction are considered extremely moisture sensitive and will likely disturb easily in wet conditions. During wet weather conditions, subgrade stability problems and grading difficulties may develop due to the excess moisture, disturbance of sensitive soils, shallow groundwater levels, and/or the presence of perched groundwater. Construction during extended periods of wet weather could result in the need to remove wet disturbed soils if they cannot be suitably compacted due to elevated moisture contents. The prepared subgrade should be protected from construction traffic and surface water should be diverted around the prepared subgrade. Soils that have become unstable may require over-excavation, or drying and recompaction. Selective drying may be accomplished by scarifying or windrowing surficial material during extended periods of dry, warm weather (typically during the summer months). If the soils cannot be dried back to a workable moisture condition, removal of the unstable soils or the use of remedial measures may be required. These remedial measures could include placement of a blanket of rock spalls to protect the exposed subgrade and construction traffic areas. The lateral extent and depth of rock spalls, if required, should be determined based on evaluation of the near surface soil conditions at the time of construction.

General project site winterization should consist of the placement of aggregate base and the protection of exposed soils during the construction phase. It should be understood that even if Best Management Practices (BMP's) for wintertime soil protection are implemented and followed there is a significant chance that moisture disturbed soil mitigation work will still be required.

A representative of our firm should be present during all site clearing and grading operations to test and observe earthwork construction. This testing and observation are an integral part of our services, as acceptance of earthwork construction is dependent upon compaction and stability of the material. The geotechnical engineer may reject any material that does not meet compaction and stability requirements. Further recommendations, contained in this report, are predicated upon the assumption that earthwork construction will conform to the recommendations set forth in this section and in the Structural Fill Section.
Dewatering

Excavations will be required for installation of the USTs and site utilities, as well as for over-excavations required for construction of the slabs-on-grade, pavements, and structures supported on shallow foundations. Based on the anticipated excavation depths and the shallow groundwater level encountered at the site, the excavations will extend below the groundwater table and thus require some method of dewatering.

Sump pit and pumping methods may be able to handle groundwater encountered in shallow excavations depending on the time of year construction takes place, the planned excavation depth, and the soils encountered within the excavation. The test pits conducted for this exploration encountered groundwater as shallow as 1.5 feet bgs, and cave-in of the pit sidewalls occurred in the very loose to loose soils at about the level groundwater was encountered.

Deeper excavations, such as for installation of the USTs, will require more a more aggressive dewatering method, such as well points. To maintain the stability of the excavation bottom, groundwater levels should be drawn down a minimum of 2 feet below the lowest portion of the excavation. The groundwater level should be maintained below the recommended level until the backfill has been placed and compacted.

Analysis of contractor dewatering needs or the design of contractor dewatering systems was not within the scope of our services. A competent dewatering contractor should provide these services. However, we have included some discussion of potential dewatering methods in the following paragraphs. Krazan and Associates should review the contractor's dewatering design for consistency with the geotechnical recommendations contained in this report.

The method of dewatering ultimately selected is dependent on a number of factors, e.g. quantity of groundwater to be removed, cone of depression (zone of influence) of dewatering measures within the excavation, stability of the undocumented fill and native soils, the presence of seepage zones, and cost to name a few.

Lowering the water table could induce settlements of the dewatered and underlying soils. The dewatering engineer should evaluate the potential for dewatering-related settlement, and mitigation measures should be taken, as necessary. If structures or utilities are located within the anticipated cone of depression, groundwater levels, settlement, and deflections at and near the structure or utility should be monitored during dewatering to observe if the groundwater level is changing and movement is occurring. Dewatering should stop and appropriate corrective action should be taken if settlement or changes in groundwater levels are noted at these locations.

Temporary Excavations

The onsite soils have variable friction and cohesion strengths, therefore the safe angles to which these materials may be cut for temporary excavations is variable, as the soils may be prone to caving and slope failures in temporary excavations deeper than about 2 feet or at the level where groundwater is encountered. Temporary excavations in the fill material and underlying native soils should be sloped no steeper than 2H:1V (horizontal to vertical) where room permits. Depending on site soil and groundwater conditions, it may be necessary to flatten the side slopes of the excavation and lower the groundwater level as necessary to achieve stable conditions. Slope cuts into excavations greater than 20 feet in depth should be designed by a professional engineer for the contractor.

All temporary cuts should be in accordance with Washington Administrative Code (WAC) Part N, Excavation, Trenching, and Shoring. The temporary slope cuts should be visually inspected daily by a qualified person during construction work activities and <u>the results of the inspections should be included</u> <u>in daily reports</u>. The contractor is responsible for maintaining the stability of the temporary cut slopes and minimizing slope erosion during construction. The temporary cut slopes should be covered with plastic sheeting to help minimize erosion during wet weather and the slopes should be closely monitored as the area is backfilled.

A Krazan & Associates geotechnical engineer should observe, at least periodically, the temporary cut slopes during the excavation work. The reason for this is that all soil conditions may not be fully delineated by the limited testing at the site. In the case of temporary slope cuts, the existing soil conditions may not be fully revealed until the excavation work exposes the soil. Typically, as excavation work progresses, the maximum inclination of the temporary slope will need to be evaluated by the geotechnical engineer so that supplemental recommendations can be made. Soil and groundwater conditions can be highly variable. If any variations or undesirable conditions are encountered during construction, Krazan & Associates should be notified so that supplemental recommendations can be made.

Underground Storage Tanks (USTs)

The specific plans for installation of the two new tanks were not available at the time of this report. However, we have assumed installation of the new tanks will generally follow the Underground Storage Tank Standards Element TP01 V-14.0 2019 Series Core drawings prepared by Barghausen Consulting Engineers, Inc. and dated January 25, 2019. Based on these drawings and side by side tank installations, we anticipate the excavation will extend to a <u>minimum depth of about 16 to 20 feet bgs</u>. We anticipate excavations for fuel lines, vent lines, and other utilities will generally be less than 4 feet deep. Therefore, some type of temporary shoring system will be necessary to support the excavation sidewalls. Due to the high groundwater level encountered at the site and the very loose to medium dense soils to be retained, we do not recommend the use of a soldier pile retaining wall system for support of the UST Excavation. Recommendations for a temporary sheet pile shoring system are provided below. *Lateral Earth Pressures:* The parameters presented in Table 2 may be used for design of a temporary shoring and/or bracing system.

| Table 2 - S | Table 2 - SOIL PARAMETERS FOR TEMPORARY SHORING DESIGN | | | | | | | | | | | |
|--|--|---|-------------------|-------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Material Description | Depth (ft.) | Angle of Internal Friction (degrees) | Cohesion (psf) | Moist Unit Weight (pcf) | Active Earth Pressure Coefficient (K _a) | Passive Earth Pressure Coefficient (K _p) | | | | | | |
| Soil Layer 1: very loose to medium dense Sands | 0 - 22 | 22 | 0 | 105 | 0.45 | 2.20 | | | | | | |
| Soil Layer 2 (Native Soils): Dense to very dense Silty Sand, Gravelly Sand, or Sandy Gravel | 22 to 33 | 40 | 50 | 135 | 0.22 | 4.60 | | | | | | |

The temporary shoring should be designed to resist the full hydrostatic pressure over the entire depth of the excavation. The excavation support system may also be subjected to surcharge loads due to construction equipment, storage of materials, temporary storage of the tanks near the excavation, or loading of the tanks onto trucks for transport offsite. We recommend the temporary shoring system be designed for a uniform lateral surcharge pressure of 300 pounds per square foot (psf) to account for these surcharge loads. In addition, outriggers for cranes may impose point loads adjacent to the excavation and these loads should be included in design of the shoring system. The shoring design should also consider loads from any structures, foundations, or existing utilities located within the zone of influence, which is taken as a 1 Horizontal to1 Vertical (1H:1V) line projected upwards from the bottom of the excavation. Excavations for installation of the USTs will require dewatering as discussed in the previous section of this report.

The temporary sheet pile retaining wall should be designed by an experienced structural engineer licensed in the state of Washington. In many cases, the contractor may have qualified structural engineers on board, or have a working relationship with qualified wall designers. In any case, the wall designer should be provided a copy of our report, and we should be retained to review the geotechnical aspects of the shoring wall design prior to construction.

If the shoring wall is allowed to yield at the top at least one thousandth of the height of the above ground portion of the wall, the wall should be designed for an active loading condition. If the wall is restrained from yielding by external bracing, tiebacks, or wall stiffness, the wall should be designed for an at-rest

loading condition. Active or at-rest pressure acting on the cantilevered sheet piles should be calculated based on a triangular pressure distribution using the soil parameters provided in Table 2. Single- or multiple-braced walls should be designed using a trapezoidal earth pressure distribution. A factor of safety of 1.5 should be applied to the calculated passive resistance.

Our explorations did not encounter boulders. However, boulders may be present in glacial soils and may cause obstruction. Additionally, there may be obstructions in unexplored areas of the site. The contractor should be prepared to penetrate or remove obstructions if they are encountered.

Dewatering: - Porewater pressure dissipation tests conducted in the CPTs indicated groundwater levels at the time of testing in March 2022 at a depth of 1.5 to 3.7 feet bgs. Installation of monitoring wells, piezometers, or conducting slug tests to evaluate site specific groundwater levels and pumping rates for dewatering analysis <u>was not included</u> in our scope of services for this project. Analysis of contractor dewatering needs or the design of contractor dewatering systems was also not within the scope of our services.

Excavation Subgrade: - Based on the referenced standard tank drawings, we understand that the new tanks will bear on a minimum of 12 inches of pea gravel placed over the native soils. Based on the CPT results, the soils at the anticipated excavation bottom will likely consist of dense to very dense sand and gravel soils. The contractor should be prepared to remove any accumulations of soft soils due to standing water in the excavation prior to placement of the pea gravel base layer. Any over-excavation to remove soft soils should be backfilled with pea gravel meeting the requirements of the Structural Fill section of this report.

Construction Considerations: - The excavation and backfilling activities associated with installation of the new tanks may cause ground movement. Prior to conducting the excavation activities, a preconstruction survey should be conducted on existing structures within a horizontal distance of at least 17 feet from the edges of the excavation. The pre-construction survey should include elevation measurements as well as photos of the existing structures. Additional elevation measurements should be obtained at a reasonable frequency, but not less than once per week, to monitor movements during the excavation and backfilling process.

The new tanks should be designed to resist hydrostatic uplift forces. Concrete deadmen with straps could be utilized to provide additional uplift resistance for the fuel tank system.

Utility Trenches and Backfill

Excavations of up to 4 feet in depth are anticipated to install utilities associated with the new fuel tanks. Deeper excavations may be required to install site utilities. The temporary excavations for installation of utilities should follow the recommendations of the Temporary Excavations section of this report.

All utility trench backfill should consist of structural engineered fill as per the Structural Fill section of this report. The onsite undocumented fill and native soils are considered unsuitable for re-use as trench backfill. Trench backfill lifts should be placed in equal measures on each side of the utility pipe to the top of the pipe. Trench backfill lifts should not exceed 8 inches in loose thickness prior to compaction, with the exception that the first lift placed over the pipe may be up to 14 inches in loose thickness. Each lift of trench backfill should be <u>moisture conditioned to within 2 percent of its optimum moisture content and compacted to the required relative density prior to placement of additional fill lifts.</u>

A firm and unyielding subgrade (i.e. bearing soils at bottom of trench) should allow for the proper placement of subsurface utilities. If unstable soils are encountered at the utility trench bottom, we recommend placement of geotextile and quarry rock (rock spalls) on the bottom of utility trenches prior to placement of pipe bedding to provide a stable subgrade for placement of the pipe bedding, utility, and trench backfill. The thickness of the rock spall layer will depend on the instability of the subgrade soils at the time of excavation. Pipe bedding should be in accordance with the pipe manufacturer's recommendations.

Utility trench backfill placed within or adjacent to buildings and exterior slabs should be compacted to at least 95 percent of the maximum dry density based on ASTM Test Method D1557. It is recommended that utility trenches located within the building pad be compacted, as specified above, to minimize the transmission of moisture through the utility trench backfill. The upper 5 feet of utility trench backfill placed in pavement areas should be compacted to at least 95 percent of the maximum dry density based on ASTM Test Method D1557. Below 5 feet, utility trench backfill in pavement areas should be compacted to at least 90 percent of the maximum dry density based on ASTM Test Method D1557. Pipe bedding should be in accordance with the pipe manufacturer's recommendations.

The contractor is responsible for removing all moisture-sensitive soils from the trenches regardless of the backfill location and compaction requirements. The contractor should use appropriate equipment and methods to avoid damage to the utilities and/or structures during fill placement and compaction.

<u>Structural Fill</u>

Fill placed beneath foundations, pavement, or other settlement-sensitive structures should be placed as structural fill. Structural fill, by definition, is placed in accordance with prescribed methods and standards, and is monitored by an experienced geotechnical professional or soils technician under the direction of the geotechnical engineer. Field monitoring procedures would include the performance of a representative number of in-place density tests on the soils to document the attainment of the desired degree of relative compaction and moisture content. The area to receive the fill should be suitably prepared as described in the Site Preparation subsection of this report prior to beginning fill placement.

Best Management Practices (BMP's) should be followed when considering the suitability of the existing materials for use as structural fill. Based on our field exploration, the undocumented fill and native soils

that will be encountered within roughly the upper 10 feet during site development are considered unsuitable for re-use as structural fill material due to their high fines content (percent silt and/or clay material passing the No. 200 Sieve), as well as organic content for the Shalcar muck encountered in our explorations. These soils are considered extremely moisture-sensitive and will likely disturb easily in wet conditions. Also, debris was observed in the undocumented fill within the test pits.

An allowance for importing structural fill should be incorporated into the construction cost of the project. If deeper excavations, such as for installation of site utilities, are extended into the sands encountered beneath the organic silt/peat, clayey silt or clay soils, the sands may be re-used as structural fill provided that they can be dried back to near their optimum moisture content to attain the required level of compaction and they are separated from the organic silt, clayey silt, layers encountered within the sand stratum. During excavations, the sand and sandy silt soils should be stockpiled separately if plans are to try to re-use the sand as structural fill material. If soil types other than those revealed during our field exploration are encountered during construction, then we should be consulted regarding the suitability of these soils for use as structural fill.

Imported fill material should be <u>all-weather</u> structural fill consisting of well-graded gravel or a sand and gravel mixture with a maximum grain size of 3 inches and less than 5 percent fines (material passing the U.S. Standard No. 200 Sieve). Structural fill may also consist of crushed rock, rock spalls, or Controlled Density Fill (CDF). All structural fill material should be submitted for approval to the geotechnical engineer at least 48 hours prior to delivery to the site.

Fill soils should be placed in horizontal lifts not exceeding 8 inches loose thickness, moisture-conditioned as necessary (moisture content of soil shall not vary by more than ± 2 percent of its optimum moisture content), and compacted to at least 95 percent of the maximum dry density based on ASTM Test Method D1557 (Modified Proctor). In-place density tests should be performed on all structural fill to document proper moisture content and adequate compaction levels have been attained. Additional fill lifts should not be placed if the previous lift did not meet the compaction requirements or if soil conditions are not considered stable. Placing several lifts of fill and then potholing down to each lift to conduct compaction testing is not acceptable, and will require complete removal of the fill down to the first lift. Ponding or jetting the soil is not an approved method of soil compaction.

Foundation Recommendations

Liquefiable soils were encountered throughout the site and consideration of the risks associated with constructing on such soils should be considered when selecting a particular foundation system for support of a structure. Our liquefaction analyses indicated that the soils within the upper 21.5 feet of the site, as well as the soils encountered in a deeper zone between a depth of roughly 33 to 43 feet bgs, are liquefiable under a maximum earthquake magnitude of 7.1. The maximum liquefaction induced settlement for this type of seismic event is estimated to be on the order of approximately <u>1.3 to 2.4 inches (total settlement)</u>,

with dynamic <u>differential settlement</u> estimated to be on the order of about <u>1/4 to 1-inch over 50 feet</u>. The following sections discuss the subsurface conditions anticipated at the ampm building, fuel canopy and pump stations, and car wash structure, and discusses the recommended foundation system for each of these structures.

ampm Building: The proposed ampm building will be located within the northeastern portion of the site. CPT-1, conducted within the footprint of the building, encountered undocumented fill overlying highly compressible organic silts, peat, and clay and loose sands to a depth of about 20 feet bgs. The subsurface conditions are not considered suitable for foundation support on typical spread footings for both static and dynamic case scenario. Therefore, a deep foundation system is recommended to completely penetrate through liquefiable zones and transfer the building loads through the undocumented fill and compressible native soils to be supported on the underlying dense to very dense native sand and gravel soils.

Pin Piles: A deep foundation system consisting of pin piles bearing at a minimum depth of 20 feet bgs is recommended for support of the ampm building, **provided that the potential for liquefaction induced settlements of the deeper soils is considered acceptable**. Installation recommendations and allowable pile loads for 2-, 3-, and 4-inch diameter pipe piles are provided below. The pile capacities stated are based on pile center to center spacing of at least 3 pile diameters to avoid group effects.

For 2-inch diameter pipe piles driven to refusal using a hand-held, 90-pound jackhammer, we recommend a design axial compression capacity of three tons for each pile. The refusal criterion for this pile and hammer size is defined as less than one inch of pile penetration during 60 seconds of continuous driving. We recommend using extra strong (Schedule 80) galvanized steel pipe for the 2-inch diameter pipe piles.

We recommend that the 3-inch diameter pipe piles be driven using a hydraulic hammer with a weight class of at least 850 lbs. For this pile diameter and hammer size, we recommend a design axial compression capacity of six tons for each pile driven to refusal. The refusal criterion for this pile and hammer size is defined as less than one inch of pile penetration during 20 seconds of continuous driving.

We recommend that the 4-inch diameter pipe piles be driven using a hydraulic hammer, with a weight class of at least 1,100 lbs. For this pile and hammer size, we recommend a design capacity of ten tons for each pile driven to refusal. The refusal criterion for this pile and hammer size is defined as less than one inch of pile penetration during 20 seconds of continuous driving.

The above design capacities are based on theoretical numerical pile driving analysis. We should be retained to review final plans, monitor installation of the piles, and evaluate pile refusal. The pin piles should penetrate a minimum of 4 feet into the dense to very dense sand and gravel encountered at a depth of 20 feet bgs in order to develop the design capacity. Piles that do not meet this minimum embedment criterion or piles that are obstructed on debris in the fill should be rejected, and replacement piles should be driven after consulting with the structural engineer regarding the new pile locations. Due to the

relatively small slenderness ratio of pin piles, maintaining pin pile confinement and lateral support is essential to preventing pile buckling. Pin piles should not stick above the finished ground surface.

Although pin piles bearing at a depth of at least 20 feet bgs will mitigate the dynamic settlements anticipated from the liquefiable soils within the upper zone, it **will not** reduce the seismic induced settlements anticipated due to the deeper liquefiable soils. It is estimated that about sixty percent of the dynamic settlement is attributed to the deeper liquefiable soils encountered at a depth of about 33 to 43 feet bgs in our explorations. It is anticipated that the pin piles will encounter refusal within the dense to very dense sand and gravel layer encountered at a depth of about 20 to 33 feet bgs.

Steel Pipe or Auger Cast Piles: In order to mitigate the magnitude of seismic-induced settlement associated with the deeper liquefiable soils, open-ended steel pile piles or auger cast piles, extending below the deeper liquefiable soils to bear at a minimum of 4 feet into the dense to very dense sand and gravel encountered at a depth of about 43 feet bgs, are recommended for support of the ampm building.

Driven open-ended pile piles may be used to support the anticipated 30-kip foundation loads for the ampm building. The allowable axial pile capacity for 8 and 10-inch diameter pipe pile are provided in Table 3. A factor of safety of 3.0 was used in the axial pile capacity calculations.

| PILE DIAMETER | PILE CAPACITY |
|---------------|---------------|
| (Inch) | (Kips) |
| 8 | 25 |
| 10 | 38 |

Table 3: Pipe Pile Capacities

Auger cast piles may also be used to support the ampm building. Auger cast piles are constructed with a hollow stem auger drilled to the desired depth. After reaching the minimum recommended penetration into bearing soils, a pressure head is created when grout is pumped through the hollow stem of the auger and into the borehole before starting withdrawal of the auger. After the head is developed, withdrawal of the auger is timed to maintain the grout pressure head and limit intrusion of loose soil into the sides of the pile excavation or discontinuity or "necking" of the pile. The actual volume of the grout pumped into each pile is recorded and compared to the theoretical volume of the pile. Piles with a ratio of actual to theoretical volume less than 1.1 should be re-drilled. Due to the loose/soft conditions of the near surface soils on this site, we recommend that the auger cast piles be allowed to cure for at least 12 hours prior to the installation of the adjacent piles or maintain at least 12 feet of horizontal distance.

Table 4 lists the allowable capacity for 10 and 12-inch diameter auger cast piles. For design purposes, we recommend that these piles penetrate a minimum of 4 feet into the dense to very dense sand and gravel deposits encountered at a depth of 43 feet below the existing ground surface to provide adequate bearing.

| PILE DIAMETER (Inches) | ALLOWABLE PILE CAPACITY (Kips) | | | | | |
|------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| 10 | 41 | | | | | |
| 12 | 60 | | | | | |

Table 4: Auger Cast Pile Capacities

General - Final pile depths should be expected to vary somewhat and will depend on the actual depth of the existing fill and loose/soft native soils, and the nature of the underlying competent bearing soils. Debris consisting of chunks asphalt pavement and broken clay pipe was present in the undocumented fill encountered in test pits IP-1 and IP-2, and may be encountered within the proposed building footprint. There is a possibility some piles may be obstructed. There should be contingencies in the budget and design for removal of obstructions and/or additional/relocated piles to replace piles that may be obstructed by debris in the fill. A structural engineer should prepare the structural design of the pile foundation system.

The pile capacities listed in Tables 3 and 4 do not account for the effects of down drag forces. Since finish grades are anticipated to be at or near existing grades, we do not anticipate that down drag will have an appreciable effect on the capacity of the deep foundation system provided our site preparation and foundation recommendations are followed.

We recommend dynamic testing be conducted on at least one (1) indicator test pile installed within the building area in order to observe the installation characteristics of the piles, evaluate the suitability of the pile installation methods and equipment, and evaluate potential differences in the elevation that bearing soils are encountered, as well as the condition of the competent bearing soils. The indicator test pile should be installed and tested prior to driving the production piles to obtain the installation driving criteria and provide a better indication of the optimum pile length of production piles. Indicator test pile length and location should be selected by the geotechnical engineer, in conjunction with the structural engineer and contractor. We recommend that the dynamic testing consist of taking measurements using a Pile Driving Analyzer (PDA) during driving, as well as during a re-strike of the indicator test pile following a minimum of 24 hours of driving, if necessary. The purpose of the re-strike testing with the PDA is to determine the amount of additional pile capacity achieved once the pore pressures from pile driving have dissipated.

The indicator pile length should allow extra length for attachment of the PDA transducers and additional driving, if necessary due to soil conditions. We should be retained to review final plans, monitor installation of the indicator and production piles (including recording of blows counts, depth to bearing soils, and embedment within competent bearing soils), and evaluate the PDA tests results. The contractor should use the same equipment to install both the indicator and production piles, unless the results of the PDA testing indicates otherwise.

We recommend a baseline survey of the nearby structures, consisting of photo documentation of the existing condition of the buildings, be conducted prior to the start of construction activities. We also recommend the nearby existing structures be monitored for movement during pile driving activities. A system of survey points should be established and baseline readings should be established prior to commencing with the pile driving activities. Readings should be taken periodically until the piles are installed and these readings should be compared to the original baseline measurements.

Deep Foundation Alternative - As an alternative to supporting the ampm building on a deep foundation system, consideration could be given to locating the proposed building within the southern portion of the site where more suitable subsurface conditions were encountered in terms of anticipated total static settlement. However, dynamic settlement due to liquefiable soils would still be present at this alternative location, and the risks associated with seismic-induced settlements would have to be acceptable in order to support the building on a shallow foundation system. In addition, some over-excavation of the undocumented fill and loose/soft native soils and replacement with structural fill would still be required to provide a stable bearing surface for the anticipated foundation loads. Shallow foundation recommendations for this alternative would be similar to those presented in the following subsection for Canopy and Car Wash Structures.

<u>Canopy and Car Wash Structures</u>: We have assumed that design of the foundation system for the proposed canopy and car wash structures does not require consideration of seismic-induced dynamic settlements. Therefore, these structures may be supported on a shallow foundation system provided that the recommendations stated in this section are followed during design and construction of the foundations.

Based on CPT-3, CPT-4, and CPT-5, conducted within and near the locations of the proposed fuel canopy and car wash structures, the near surface soils within a depth of 10 feet bgs are anticipated to be undocumented fill underlain by loose native sands, with occasional soft silt or clay layers up to 1-foot thick. The near surface soils are not considered suitable for support of the foundation loads. We recommend that the undocumented fill and loose/soft native soils be removed to a depth of two (2) feet beneath the footings, with the over-excavation extending laterally from the outside edges of the footing a horizontal distance of one-half the width of the footing. A layer of rock spalls or a high strength geotextile fabric should be placed over the soils at the bottom of the over-excavation. The resulting excavation should then be backfilled with properly placed and compacted structural fill up to the planned footing subgrade elevations. Shallow foundations for the fuel canopy and car wash structures may then be supported on the structural fill.

Based on the size of the structures and the minimum over-excavation requirements, it may be economical to remove the unsuitable bearing soils to a depth of two (2) feet below the bottom of the footings (bearing level) throughout the entire footprint of each structure, and extending a horizontal distance of 12 inches beyond the perimeter of the canopy or car wash foundations. A representative of Krazan and Associates should evaluate the over-excavation grade and observe structural fill placement.

New utilities should not be located within the load influence zone of the footing defined as an imaginary line extending out at 1 horizontal to 1 vertical (1H:1V) from the bottom outside edge of the footing. Depending on the location of the utility, it may be necessary to deepen the planned footing elevation such that the utility pipe is located above the footing zone of influence so the footing does not impose a surcharge load on the utility.

We recommend that exterior footings bear a minimum depth of 18 inches below pad subgrade (soil grade) or adjacent exterior grade, whichever is lower, for frost protection and bearing capacity considerations. Interior footings should have a minimum depth of 12 inches below pad subgrade (soil grade) or adjacent exterior grade, whichever is lower. Footing widths should be based on the anticipated loads and allowable soil bearing pressure, but should not be less than 12 inches wide regardless of load. Additionally, footings should conform to current International Building Code (IBC) guidelines. Water should not be allowed to accumulate in footing trenches. All loose or disturbed soil should be removed from the foundation excavation prior to placing concrete.

For foundations constructed as outlined above, we recommend that an allowable bearing capacity of **1,500 pounds per square foot (psf)** be used for foundation design for this project. A representative of Krazan and Associates should evaluate the foundation bearing soil prior to footing form construction and evaluate all structural fill subgrade and monitor all structural fill placement.

Resistance to lateral footing displacement can be computed using an allowable friction factor of 0.35 acting between the bases of foundations and the supporting subgrade. Lateral resistance for footings can alternatively be developed using an allowable equivalent fluid passive pressure of 300 pounds per cubic foot (pcf) for granular structural fill acting against the appropriate vertical footing faces (neglecting the upper 12 inches). The allowable friction factor and allowable equivalent fluid passive pressure values include a factor of safety of 1.5. The frictional and passive resistance of the soil may be combined without reduction in determining the total lateral resistance. A 1/3 increase in the above values may be used for short duration wind and seismic loads.

For foundations constructed as recommended, the total static settlement is not expected to exceed 1-inch. Differential settlement should be less than $\frac{1}{2}$ inch. Most settlement is expected to occur during construction, as the loads are applied.

Up to 2.4 inches of total seismic settlement and about ¹/₄ to 1-inch of differential settlement could occur <u>during and/or following a seismic event</u>. The foundation elements, i.e. spread and wall footings, could be structurally tied together to create a stiffer structure. It should be noted that although this may reduce the damage associated with the anticipated seismic settlement, particularly that caused by differential settlement, it would not mitigate the anticipated total seismic settlement. If the anticipated magnitude of the seismic settlement is deemed unacceptable, a deep foundation system could also be considered for support of either of these structures. The deep foundation recommendations presented for the ampm building would be applicable for the fuel canopy or car wash if seismic-induced dynamic settlements are to be considered in design of the foundation system.

Seasonal rainfall, water run-off, and the normal practice of watering trees and landscaping areas around the proposed structures should not be permitted to flood and/or saturate foundation subgrade soils. To prevent the build-up of water within the footing areas, continuous footing drains (with cleanouts) should be provided at the base of footings. The footing drains should consist of a minimum 4-inch diameter rigid perforated PVC pipe, sloped to drain, with perforations placed near the bottom and enveloped in all directions by washed rock and wrapped with filter fabric to limit the migration of silt and clay into the drain.

Drilled Pier Alternative for Fuel Canopy Foundation - As an alternative to spread footings, the fuel canopy columns may be supported on drilled piers. Drilled pier foundations are constructed by augering through the soils down to the design depth, installing steel reinforcement in the shaft, and then backfilling the shaft with concrete. Typical drilled pier diameters for support of the lightly loaded fuel canopy structure generally range from 18 to 48 inches in diameter. The drilled pier foundation supported on competent native alluvial soils may be designed with the following soil design parameters:

- Estimated angle of internal friction: 30 degrees.
- Estimated moist unit weight: 125 pounds per cubic foot (pcf).
- Allowable fluid passive resistance: 350 pcf (neglecting the upper 24 inches and includes 1.5 factor of safety).

Krazan & Associates should observe construction of the drilled piers to verify that the suitable bearing soils have been encountered at the bottom of the shaft prior to placement of steel reinforcement and concrete.

Due to the shallow groundwater conditions encountered at the site, the use of temporary casing will likely be required to prevent caving of the surrounding soil during construction of the drilled piers. Alternatively, construction of the drilled piers may use a slurry to maintain the integrity of the shaft during drilling and backfilling with concrete. The reinforcement and concrete should be placed immediately following excavation of the drilled shaft. The concrete should be placed by tremie method and a head of at least 2 feet of concrete should be maintained above the bottom of the casing during withdrawal from the shaft.

Floor Slabs and Exterior Flatwork

Based on the results of this investigation, undocumented fill and loose/soft native soils are anticipated to be encountered in the floor slabs and exterior flatwork subgrade. The floor slab and exterior flatwork subgrade should be prepared in accordance with the recommendations presented in the **Site Preparation** section of this report, and may be designed using a modulus of subgrade reaction value of k = 150 pounds per cubic inch (pci) for slabs supported on structural fill extending to the native soils.

In areas where it is desired to reduce floor dampness, such as areas covered with moisture sensitive floor coverings, we recommend that concrete slab-on-grade floors be underlain by a water vapor retarder system. According to ASTM guidelines, the water vapor retarder should consist of a vapor retarder sheeting underlain by a minimum of 6-inches of compacted clean (less than 5 percent passing the U.S. Standard No. 200 Sieve) open-graded coarse rock of ³/₄-inch maximum size. The vapor retarder sheeting should be protected from puncture damage. In addition, ventilation of the structure may be prudent to reduce the accumulation of interior moisture.

The exterior floors should be placed separately in order to act independently of the walls and foundation system.

Lateral Earth Pressures and Retaining Walls

It is not anticipated that permanent retaining walls will be required for this project. However, in case retaining walls will be incorporated into the project design, we have developed criteria for the design of retaining or below grade walls. Our design parameters are based on retention of the in-place soils and/or imported granular structural fill. The parameters are also based on level, well-drained wall backfill conditions. If other wall slope configurations are planned, we should be contacted to evaluate and provide additional recommendations for these cases.

Walls may be designed as "restrained" retaining walls based on "at-rest" earth pressures, plus any surcharge on top of the walls as described below, if the walls are braced to restrain movement and/or movement is not acceptable. Unrestrained walls may be designed based on "active" earth pressures, if the walls are not part of the building and some movement of the retaining walls is acceptable. Acceptable lateral movement equal to at least 0.2 percent of the walls supporting horizontal backfill and not subjected to hydrostatic forces be designed using a triangular earth pressure distribution equivalent to that exerted by a fluid with a density of 35 pcf for yielding (active condition) walls, and 55 pcf for non-yielding (at-rest condition) walls.

If vehicular loads are expected to act on the surface of the wall backfill within a horizontal distance of less than or equal to one-half of the wall height behind the back face of the wall, a live load surcharge should be applied for the design. In this case, we recommend the addition of vehicle surcharges of 70 psf and 100 psf to the active and at-rest earth pressures, respectively.

The stated lateral earth pressures do not include the effects of hydrostatic pressure generated by water accumulation behind the retaining walls or loads imposed by construction equipment, slopes, foundations, or roadways adjacent to the wall (surcharge loads). To minimize the lateral earth pressure and prevent the build-up of water pressure against the walls, continuous footing drains should be provided at the base of walls. The footing drains should consist of a minimum 4-inch diameter perforated pipe, sloped to drain, and with perforations placed near the bottom. The drainpipe should be enveloped by 6 inches of washed gravel in all directions wrapped in filter fabric to prevent the migration of silt and clay into the drain. Below grade structures should be designed to withstand hydrostatic pressures due to the shallow groundwater encountered at the site.

The backfill placed adjacent to the wall and extending a lateral distance of at least 2 feet behind the wall should consist of free-draining granular material. All free-draining backfill should contain less than 5 percent fines (material passing the U.S. Standard No. 200 Sieve) with at least 30 percent of the material retained on the U.S. Standard No. 4 Sieve. Alternatively, a drainage composite may be used. It should be realized that the primary purpose of the free-draining material is the reduction of hydrostatic pressure. Some potential for the moisture to contact the back face of the wall may exist, even with treatment, which may require that more extensive waterproofing be specified for walls that require interior moisture sensitive finishes.

We recommend that backfill placed within a lateral distance of 3 feet behind the wall be compacted to between 92 and 95 percent of the maximum dry density based on ASTM D1557 Test Method to limit stressed on the retaining wall from compaction of the backfill. In-place density tests should be performed to verify adequate compaction and moisture content. Soil compaction equipment places transient surcharge loads on the backfill. Consequently, only light, hand-operated equipment is recommended for fill compaction within a 3-foot horizontal distance of the wall so that excessive stress is not imposed on the wall. Backfill placed greater than 3 feet from the wall should be compacted to at least 95 percent relative density in accordance with ASTM D1557, which may be conducted using conventional compaction equipment.

Erosion and Sediment Control

Erosion and sediment control (ESC) is used to minimize the transportation of sediment to wetlands, streams, lakes, drainage systems, and adjacent properties. Erosion and sediment control measures should be taken and these measures should be in general accordance with local regulations. At a minimum, the

following basic recommendations should be incorporated into the design of the erosion and sediment control features of the site:

- 1) Phase the soil, foundation, utility, and other work, requiring excavation or the disturbance of the site soils, to take place during the dry season (generally May through September). However, provided precautions are taken using Best Management Practices (BMPs), grading activities can be undertaken during the wet season (generally October through April). It should be noted that this typically increases the overall project cost.
- 2) All site work should be completed and stabilized as quickly as possible.
- 3) Additional perimeter erosion and sediment control features may be required to reduce the possibility of sediment entering the surface water. This may include additional silt fences, silt fences with a higher Apparent Opening Size (AOS), construction of a berm, or other filtration systems.
- 4) Any runoff generated by dewatering discharge should be treated through construction of a sediment trap if there is sufficient space. If space is limited other filtration methods will need to be incorporated.

It has been our experience that soil erosion potential can be minimized by limiting the amount of bare areas exposed during construction activities, frequently wetting the surface soils during construction, and with proper landscaping of the site following completion of construction. Construction activities can alter the erosion potential of soils due to water. Typically, erosion of exposed soils will be most noticeable during periods of rainfall and may be mitigated by the use of temporary erosion control measures, such as silt fences, hay bales, straw wattles, mulching, control ditches or diversion trenching, and contour furrowing. The walls of excavations should be covered with plastic sheeting during periods of rainfall. Erosion control measures should be in place before the onset of wet weather.

Groundwater Influence on Structures and Earthwork Construction

Groundwater was encountered at depths of ranging between 1.5 to 3.7 feet bgs based on observations during excavation of the test pits and pore water dissipations tests conducted in the CPTs. It should be recognized that groundwater elevations may fluctuate with time. The groundwater level will be dependent upon seasonal precipitation, irrigation, land use, and climatic conditions, as well as other factors. Therefore, groundwater levels at the time of the field investigation may be different from those encountered during the construction phase of the project. The evaluation of such factors is beyond the scope of this report.

If earthwork is performed during or soon after periods of precipitation, the subgrade soils may become saturated. These soils may not respond to densification techniques due to the excessive moisture. Typical

remedial measures include: disking and aerating the soil during dry weather; mixing the soil with drier materials; removing and replacing the soil with an approved fill material. Krazan & Associates should be consulted prior to implementing remedial measures to observe the unstable subgrade conditions and provide appropriate recommendations.

Due to the shallow groundwater encountered at the site, below grade structures such as the USTs, should be designed to result uplift pressures.

Drainage and Landscaping

The ground surface should slope away from building pads and pavement areas, toward appropriate drop inlets or other surface drainage devices. It is recommended that adjacent exterior grades be sloped a minimum of 2 percent for a minimum distance of 5 feet away from structures. Roof drains should be tight lined away from foundations. Roof drains should not be connected to the footing drains, but may use the same outfall piping if connected well away from the structure and with enough fall such that roof water will not back-up into the footing drains.

Subgrade soils in pavement areas should be inclined at a minimum of 1 percent and drainage gradients should be maintained to carry all surface water to collection facilities, and suitable outlets. These grades should be maintained for the life of the project.

Water should not be allowed to collect adjacent to the structures. Excessive irrigation within landscaped areas adjacent to the structure should not be allowed to occur.

Pavement Design

The undocumented fill and native soils encountered at the site are unsuitable for support of pavement loads. The pavement subgrade should be prepared in accordance with the recommendations presented in the Site Preparation section of this report. Traffic loads were not provided, however, based on our knowledge of the proposed project, we expect the traffic to range from light duty (passenger automobiles) to heavy duty (fire trucks and delivery trucks). The following tables show the <u>minimum</u> recommended pavement sections for both light and heavy-duty traffic loads.

ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (FLEXIBLE) PAVEMENT

| Asphaltic Concrete | Aggregate Base* | | | |
|--------------------|-----------------|--|--|--|
| 3.0 in. | 6.0 in. | | | |

PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE (RIGID) PAVEMENT 4000 psi with FIBER MESH

| Min. PCC Depth | Aggregate Base* | | | | |
|----------------|-----------------|--|--|--|--|
| 6.0 in. | 6.0 in. | | | | |

* 95% compaction based on ASTM Test Method D1557

The asphaltic concrete depth in the flexible pavement tables should be a surface course type asphalt, such as Washington Department of Transportation (WSDOT) ¹/₂-inch Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA). The pavement specification in Appendix C provides additional recommendations including aggregate base material. The rigid pavement design is based on a Portland Cement Concrete (PCC) mix that has a 28-day compressive strength of 4,000 pounds per square inch (psi) with a fiber mesh. The design is also based on a concrete flexural strength or modulus of rupture of 575 psi.

Testing and Inspection

A representative of Krazan & Associates, Inc. should be present at the site during the earthwork activities to confirm that actual subsurface conditions, including foundation bearing soils, are consistent with those exposed during our exploratory field work. This activity is an integral part of our services as acceptance of earthwork construction is dependent upon compaction testing and stability of the material. This representative can also verify that the intent of our recommendations has been incorporated into the project design and construction. Krazan & Associates, Inc. will not be responsible for grades or staking, since this is the responsibility of the Prime Contractor. Furthermore, Krazan & Associates is not responsible for the contractor's procedures, methods, scheduling, or management of the work site.

LIMITATIONS

Geotechnical engineering is one of the newest divisions of Civil Engineering. This branch of Civil Engineering is constantly improving as new technologies and understanding of earth sciences improves. Although your site was analyzed using the most appropriate current techniques and methods, undoubtedly there will be substantial future improvements in this branch of engineering. In addition to improvements in the field of geotechnical engineering, physical changes in the site either due to excavation or fill placement, new agency regulations, or possible changes in the proposed structure after the time of completion of the soils report may require the soils report to be professionally reviewed. In light of this, the owner should be aware that there is a practical limit to the usefulness of this report without critical review. Although the time limit for this review is strictly arbitrary, it is suggested that two years be considered a reasonable time for the usefulness of this report.

This report has been prepared for the exclusive use of BP Products North America Inc. and their assigns, for the specific application to the subject site. Foundation and earthwork construction are characterized by the presence of a calculated risk that soil and groundwater conditions have been fully revealed by the original geotechnical investigation. This risk is derived from the practical necessity of basing interpretations and design conclusions on limited sampling of the earth. Our report, design conclusions,

and interpretations should not be construed as a warranty of the subsurface conditions. Actual subsurface conditions may differ, sometimes significantly, from those indicated in this report.

The recommendations made in this report are based on the assumption that soil conditions do not vary significantly from those encountered during our field investigation. The findings and conclusions of this report can be affected by the passage of time, seasonal weather conditions, manmade influences such as construction on or adjacent to the site, and natural events such as earthquakes, slope instability, flooding, or groundwater fluctuations. If any variations or undesirable conditions are encountered during construction, the geotechnical engineer should be notified so that supplemental recommendations can be made.

The conclusions of this report are based on the information provided regarding the proposed construction. If the proposed construction is relocated or redesigned, the conclusions in this report may not be valid. The geotechnical engineer should be notified of any changes so that the recommendations can be reviewed and re-evaluated.

Misinterpretations of this report by other design team members can result in project delays and cost overruns. These risks can be reduced by having Krazan & Associates, Inc. involved in the design team's meetings and discussions prior to and following submission of the geotechnical report. Krazan & Associates, Inc. should also be retained to review pertinent elements of the design team's plans and specifications. To reduce the risk of contractors misinterpreting the recommendations of this report, Krazan & Associates should participate in pre-bid and preconstruction meetings, and provide construction observations and testing during the site work.

This report is a geotechnical engineering investigation with the purpose of evaluating the soil conditions in terms of foundation design. The scope of our geotechnical engineering services did not include any environmental site assessment for the presence or absence of hazardous and/or toxic materials in the soil, groundwater or atmosphere, or the presence of wetlands. Any statements, or absence of statements, in this report or on any test pit or CPT logs regarding odors, unusual or suspicious items, or conditions observed are strictly for descriptive purposes and are not intended to convey engineering judgment regarding potential hazardous and/or toxic assessments.

The geotechnical information presented herein is based upon professional interpretation utilizing standard engineering practices and a degree of conservatism deemed proper for this project. It is not warranted that such information and interpretation cannot be superseded by future geotechnical developments. We emphasize that this report is valid for this project as outlined above, and should not be used for any other site. Our report is prepared for the exclusive use of our client. No other party may rely on the product of our services unless we agree in advance to such reliance in writing.

If you have any questions, or if we may be of further assistance, please do not hesitate to contact our office at (253) 939-2500.

Respectfully submitted,

KRAZAN & ASSOCIATES, INC.

5/6/2022

Shewa R. Munan

Theresa R. Nunan Project Manager Vijay Chaudhary, P.E. Assistant Regional Engineering Manager



series, Puyallup, WA" dated 2020.



| Date: April 2022 | Project Numb | Project Number: 062-22010 | | | |
|------------------|--------------|---------------------------|--|--|--|
| Drawn By: KC | Not to Scale | Figure 1 | | | |

N



CPT-01 Cone Penetration Test Location

Legend:

Reference: Preliminary Site Plan, Sheet SP-5, prepared by Barghausen Consulting Engineers, Inc. dated July 9, 2021.



Proposed ARCO ampm Fueling Facility: 1402 S Meridian Ave., Puyallup, WA

| Date: April 9 2020 | | Project Number: 0 | 62-22010 |
|--------------------|-----------|-------------------|----------|
| Drawn By: TRN | Not to \$ | Scale | Figure 2 |

APPENDIX A

FIELD INVESTIGATION AND LIQUEFACTION ANALYSIS

Field Investigation

The field investigation consisted of a surface reconnaissance and a subsurface exploration program. Six (6) Cone Penetrometer Tests (CPTs) were conducted for the subsurface investigation at this site. The CPTs were advanced to depths of about 27.0 to 46.3 feet bgs using a subcontracted testing rig. Porewater pressure dissipation tests were conducted in all of the CPTs for evaluation of the static groundwater level at the time of the explorations. Seismic shear wave testing was conducted in CPT-2B, CPT-4, and CPT-5 for use in determining seismic design parameters.

Two (2) test pits were excavated on March 28, 2022 to depths of 4.7 and 7.1 feet bgs using a subcontracted excavator and equipment operator. A geotechnical engineer from Krazan and Associates was present during the explorations, visually classified the soils obtained in the test pits in general accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS), and maintained logs of the test pits.

The test pit and CPT explorations were located in the field based on existing site features, and their approximate locations are shown on the Site Plan (Figure 2). The test pit and CPT logs are presented in this Appendix. The depths shown on the attached logs are from the existing ground surface at the time of our exploration. The ground surface elevations included on the CPT logs are based on information presented on the Alta/NSPS Land Title Survey prepared by Barghausen Consulting Engineering, Inc. and dated April 19, 2022.

Liquefaction Analysis

The commercially available liquefaction analysis software, NovoCPT from NovoTech, was used to evaluate the liquefaction potential and the possible liquefaction induced settlement for the site soil and groundwater conditions based on our explorations. The analysis was performed using the information from the CPTs. The results of the liquefaction analyses are included in this appendix.

Krazan & ASSOCIATES, INC.

| Project: Prop. ARCO ampm Fueling Facility | | | | | | tı / | Project Number: Client: Test Pit No. 062-22010 BP Products North America | | | Test Pit No. | : IP-1 | |
|--|-----------------------------|----------------|-----------|----------------|-----------|------------|--|--|--|--------------------------------|-----------------|--|
| Location: | | | | | | ly | 0 | 02-22010 | Contractor: | | | |
| | 2 S. Me | | | ., Puy | allu | ip, W | A | Otorto de | | Strickland & Son | s Excavation | |
| | ject Ma i resa Nu | | er: | | | | | Started: 3.28.22 | | Equipment: CAT 306 Excava | tor with \/\/\/ | |
| | Field Engineer: | | | | | | te | Completed: | | | | |
| Theresa Nunan | | | | | | | Date | 3.28.22 | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Gro | undwat | er D | epth | : | | | | Ground Elevation: Total De | | | Test Pit: | |
| | 5.8 +/ | /- fee | et (and | d risin | <u>g)</u> | | | | 46.0 +/- feet | 7.1 fe | et | |
| Elev. (feet) | Depth (feet) | Sample Tvpe | Sample ID | Blow Counts | N-Value | (blows/ft) | Graphic Log | | Soil Classification | Notes / Lab Test Results | | |
| | | BULK BULK | S-1 | | | | | 2" PEA GRAVE Brown Silty S chunks of aspl dense, moist At 1.5 ft., e asphalt pavem becomes I Dark Brown M fibrous organic | | | | |
| | | BI | | | | | | | of the second state of the | (ALLUVIUM) ⁼ eet | | |

Krazan & ASSOCIATES, INC.

| Project: Prop. ARCO ampm Fueling Facility | | | | | | | | | t Number: 62-22010 | Client: BP Products North America | Test Pit No. | : IP-2 |
|---|-----------------|--------|---------|--------|---------|------------|-----------------------|------|--------------------------------|---|----------------------------|--------------|
| | ation: | ampi | IIFue | ang r | au | anty | | 0 | 02-22010 | DF FIOUUCIS NOTIT America | Contractor: | |
| | 2 S. Me | ridiar | n Ave | ., Pu | yal | lup | , W. | A | | | Strickland & Sor | s Excavation |
| | ject Ma | | er: | | | | | | Started: | | Equipment: | |
| | resa Nu | | | | | | | | 3.28.22 | | CAT 306 Excava | ator with WW |
| | Field Engineer: | | | | | | | Date | Completed: | | | |
| Ine | Theresa Nunan | | | | | | | | 3.28.22 | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Gro | undwa | | | | | | | | Ground Elevation: Total I | | | f Test Pit: |
| | 2.3 + | /- fee | et (and | d risi | ng) |) | | | | 47.0 | 4.7 fe | et |
| Elev. (feet) Depth (feet) <u>Sample</u> Tvoe Sample ID Blow Counts N-Value (blows/ft) | | | | | N-Value | (blows/ft) | Graphic Log | | Notes / Lab Test Results | | | |
| | 0 | - | | | | | × × × × × | | | Asphalt Concrete Pavem Brown Silty SAND (SM) w SE | | |
| | 1 — | - | | | | | | | | raded SAND (SP-SM) with silt, fine to ed, loose, moist (FILL) | | |
| | 2 - | BULK | S-1 | | | | | | Bluish Grey S / | AND (SP-SM) with silt, ver | y loose, wet (ALLUVIUM) | |
| | 3 — | BULK | S-2 | | | | | | Dark Brown O | rganic SILT (OH), very so | | |
| | _ | ш | | | | | ľ | | Dark Grey/Bla | ck Poorly Graded SAND | | |
| | 4 — | BULK | S-3 | | | | | | silt, very loose | - | | |
| | - | | | 1 | | | | | , . , | , - | (ALLUVIUM) | |
| | 5 — | - | | | | | | | Tes | | | |
| | 6 — | - | | | | | | | | | | |
| | - 7 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 8 - | | | | | | | | | | | |







Job No: 22-59-23911 Date: 03/30/2022 13:42 Site: Puyallup Sounding: CPT-01 Cone: 781:T1500F15U35 Area=15 cm²





Equilibrium Pore Pressure (Ueq)
Assumed Ueq
Dissipation, Ueq achieved
Dissipation, Ueq not achieved
The reported coordinates were acquired from hand-held GPS equipment and are only approximate locations. The coordinates should not be used for design purposes.

Hydrostatic Line





Job No: 22-59-23911 Date: 03/30/2022 17:07 Site: Puyallup Sounding: CPT-02B Cone: 781:T1500F15U35 Area=15 cm²





Equilibrium Pore Pressure (Ueq)
Assumed Ueq
Dissipation, Ueq achieved
The reported coordinates were acquired from hand-held GPS equipment and are only approximate locations. The coordinates should not be used for design purposes.

Hydrostatic Line



Equilibrium Pore Pressure (Ueq)
Assumed Ueq
Dissipation, Ueq achieved
Dissipation, Ueq not achieved
The reported coordinates were acquired from hand-held GPS equipment and are only approximate locations. The coordinates should not be used for design purposes.

Hydrostatic Line





Job No: 22-59-23911 Date: 03/30/2022 14:45 Site: Puyallup Sounding: CPT-02 Cone: 781:T1500F15U35 Area=15 cm²








Job No: 22-59-23911 Date: 03/30/2022 15:29 Site: Puyallup Sounding: CPT-03 Cone: 781:T1500F15U35 Area=15 cm²













Job No: 22-59-23911 Date: 03/30/2022 12:23 Site: Puyallup Sounding: CPT-04 Cone: 781:T1500F15U35 Area=15 cm²





Equilibrium Pore Pressure (Ueq)
Assumed Ueq
Dissipation, Ueq achieved
Dissipation, Ueq not achieved
The reported coordinates were acquired from hand-held GPS equipment and are only approximate locations. The coordinates should not be used for design purposes.







Job No: 22-59-23911 Date: 03/30/2022 16:06 Site: Puyallup Sounding: CPT-05 Cone: 781:T1500F15U35 Area=15 cm²





Equilibrium Pore Pressure (Ueq)
Assumed Ueq
Dissipation, Ueq achieved
Dissipation, Ueq not achieved
The reported coordinates were acquired from hand-held GPS equipment and are only approximate locations. The coordinates should not be used for design purposes.

APPENDIX B

EARTHWORK SPECIFICATIONS

GENERAL

When the text of the report conflicts with the general specifications in this appendix, the recommendations in the report have precedence.

SCOPE OF WORK: These specifications and applicable plans pertain to and include all earthwork associated with the site rough grading, including but not limited to the furnishing of all labor, tools, and equipment necessary for site clearing and grubbing, stripping, preparation of foundation materials for receiving fill, excavation, processing, placement and compaction of fill and backfill materials to the lines and grades shown on the project grading plans, and disposal of excess materials.

PERFORMANCE: The Contractor shall be responsible for the satisfactory completion of all earthwork in accordance with the project plans and specifications. This work shall be inspected and tested by a representative of Krazan and Associates, Inc., hereinafter known as the Geotechnical Engineer and/or Testing Agency. Attainment of design grades when achieved shall be certified by the project Civil Engineer. Both the Geotechnical Engineer and Civil Engineer are the Owner's representatives. If the contractor should fail to meet the technical or design requirements embodied in this document and on the applicable plans, he shall make the necessary readjustments until all work is deemed satisfactory as determined by both the Geotechnical Engineer and Civil Engineer. No deviation from these specifications shall be made except upon written approval of the Geotechnical Engineer, Civil Engineer or project Architect.

No earthwork shall be performed without the physical presence or approval of the Geotechnical Engineer. The Contractor shall notify the Geotechnical Engineer at least 2 working days prior to the commencement of any aspect of the site earthwork. The Contractor agrees that he shall assume sole and complete responsibility for job site conditions during the course of construction of this project, including safety of all persons and property; that this requirement shall apply continuously and not be limited to normal working hours; and that the Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold the Owner and the Engineers harmless from any and all liability, real or alleged, in connection with the performance of work on this project, except for liability arising from the sole negligence of the Owner of the Engineers.

TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS: All compacted materials shall be moisture conditioned to within 2 percent of the materials optimum moisture content and compacted to a density not less than 95 percent of maximum dry density as determined by ASTM Test Method D1557, unless specified otherwise in the technical portion of the Geotechnical Engineering Report. The results of these tests and compliance with these specifications shall be the basis upon which satisfactory completion of work will be judged by the Geotechnical Engineer.

SOIL AND FOUNDATION CONDITIONS: The Contractor is presumed to have visited the site and to have familiarized himself with existing site conditions and the contents of the data presented in the soil report. The Contractor shall make his own interpretation of the data contained in said report, and the Contractor shall not be relieved of liability under the contractor for any loss sustained as a result of any variance between conditions indicated by or deduced from said report and the actual conditions encountered during the progress of the work.

DUST CONTROL: The work includes dust control as required for the alleviation or prevention of any dust nuisance on or about the site or the borrow area, or off-site if caused by the Contractor's operation either during the performance of the earthwork or resulting from the conditions in which the Contractor leaves the site. The Contractor shall assume all liability, including Court costs of codefendants, for all claims related to dust or windblown materials attributable to his work.

SITE PREPARATION

Site preparation shall consist of site clearing and grubbing and preparations of foundation materials for receiving fill.

CLEARING AND GRUBBING: The Contractor shall accept the site in this present condition and shall demolish and/or remove from the area of designated project earthwork all structures, both surface and subsurface, trees, brush, roots, debris, organic matter, and all other matter determined by the Geotechnical Engineer to be deleterious. Such materials shall become the property of the Contractor and shall be removed from the site.

Tree root systems in proposed building area should be removed to a minimum depth of 3 feet and to such an extent which would permit removal of all roots larger than 1 inch. Tree roots removed in parking areas may be limited to the upper 1½ feet of the ground surface. Backfill or tree root excavation should not be permitted until all exposed surfaces have been inspected and the Geotechnical Engineer is present for the proper control of backfill placement and compaction. Burning in areas which are to receive fill materials shall not be permitted.

SUBGRADE PREPARATION: Subgrade should be prepared as described in our site preparation section of this report.

EXCAVATION: All excavations shall be accomplished to the tolerance normally defined by the Civil Engineer as shown on the project grading plans. All excavations extending beyond the excavation or over-excavation limits specified shall be backfilled at the Contractor's expense and shall be compacted in accordance with the applicable technical requirements.

FILL AND BACKFILL MATERIAL: <u>No material shall be moved or compacted without the presence</u> of the Geotechnical Engineer. Material from the required site excavation may be utilized for construction site fills provided prior approval is given by the Geotechnical Engineer and the compaction requirements can be met. All materials utilized for constructing site fills shall be free from vegetable or other deleterious matter as determined by the Geotechnical Engineer.

PLACEMENT, SPREADING AND COMPACTION: The placement and spreading of approved fill materials and the processing and compaction of approved fill and native materials shall be the responsibility of the Contractor. However, <u>compaction of fill materials by flooding, ponding, or jetting shall not be permitted</u>. Both cut and fill shall be compacted to the satisfaction of the Geotechnical Engineer prior to final acceptance.

SEASONAL LIMITS: No fill material shall be placed, spread, or rolled while it is frozen or thawing or during unfavorable wet weather conditions. When the work is interrupted by heavy rains, fill operations shall not be resumed until the Geotechnical Engineer indicates that the moisture content and density of previously placed fill are as specified.

APPENDIX C

PAVEMENT SPECIFICATIONS

1. DEFINITIONS – The term "pavement" shall include asphalt concrete surfacing, untreated aggregate base, and aggregate subbase. The term "subgrade" is that portion of the area on which surfacing, base, or subbase is to be placed.

2. SCOPE OF WORK – This portion of the work shall include all labor, materials, tools, and equipment necessary for and reasonably incidental to the completion of the pavement shown on the plans and as herein specified, except work specifically notes as "Work Not Included."

3. PREPARATION OF THE SUBGRADE – Subgrade should be prepared as described in our site preparation and pavement design sections of this report.

4. AGGREGATE BASE – The aggregate base shall be spread and compacted on the prepared subgrade in conformity with the lines, grades, and dimensions shown on the plans. The aggregate base should conform to WSDOT Standard Specification for Crushed Surfacing Base Course or Top Course (Item 9-03.9(3)). The base material shall be compacted to a minimum compaction of 95% as determined by ASTM D1557 Modified Proctor. Each layer of subbase shall be tested and approved by the Geotechnical Engineer prior to the placement of successive layers.

5. ASPHALTIC CONCRETE SURFACING – Asphaltic concrete surfacing shall consist of a mixture of mineral aggregate and paving grade asphalt, mixed at a central mixing plant and spread and compacted on a prepared base in conformity with the lines, grades, and dimensions shown on the plans. The drying, proportioning, and mixing of the materials shall conform to WSDOT Specifications. The surface course shall be placed with an approved self-propelled mechanical spreading and finishing machine.

The prime coat, spreading and compaction equipment, as well as the process of spreading and compacting the mixture, shall conform to WSDOT Specifications, with the exception that no surface course shall be placed when the atmospheric temperature is below 50 degrees F. The surfacing shall be rolled with combination steel-wheel and pneumatic rollers, as described in WSDOT Specifications. The surface course shall be placed with an approved self-propelled mechanical spreading and finishing machine.

6. TACK COAT – The tack (mixing type asphaltic emulsion) shall conform to and be applied in accordance with the requirements of WSDOT Specifications.

APPENDIX B



49094

1

ļ

| - | | OF COME | | | (|
|-------------------------------|--|--|--|--|-----|
| | MELL LOG | | NT | _ | |
| | Date Sept. 11 | No. | _ Appli | <u>#2756</u> | ٤ |
| F | Record by LeRoy Gunnarson | | vert | #19111 | A |
| S | ource Driller's Record | | | | |
| L | ocation: State of WASHINGTON | | • | - - | |
| | County_Pierce | | | | |
| | Area | | | 1 1 | |
| | Map | j | | | |
| | SW 1/4 NM 1/4 sec. 314 T 20 N., R. illing Co. LeRoy Gunnarson | 1. R | ļ | | |
| Dri | illing Co. LeRoy Gunnarson | 4 . | DIAGRAM | OF SECTION | ; İ |
| | Address15/15 Barr St . m | | | | |
| | Method of Drilling | a, <u>Wasi</u> | le | | |
| Q w i | cerJohn Mladiniah | Da | te | | |
| 1 | Address 1215 So Meridian: I | | | | _ |
| isne | d surface, datumft_above | uvallu | p, Wash, | L | |
| | below | | | | |
| Coru | | | | the second s | - 4 |
| -A 710 | CN I | | | | ŝ |
| | MATERIAL | | TRICENESS (feet) | DEPTH | |
| .A 110 (1 ateri | MATERIAL | | THICKNESS (feet) | Depth (feet) | |
| | MATERIAL | phrase as no epurted. Giv | Cessary, in pare | DEPTH (feet) | |
| | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage al water-bearing, so state and record static level if a s datum unless otherwise indicated. Correlate with a of materials, list all casings, perforations, screena, | phrase as ne eported. Giv stratigraphic etc.) | THICKNESS (feet) cessary, in pare e depths in feet column, if feas | DEPTH (feet) rentheses.] t below land ible. Follow | |
| | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage a water-bearing, so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, i Sand, Silt, Clay | phrase as ne epurted. Giv stratigraphic stc.) | (feet) cessary, in part e depths in feet column, if feat | DEPTH (feet) rentheses.] t below land ible. Follow | |
| | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but para ai water-bearing, so state and record static level if a s datum unless otherwise indicated. Correlate with a of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, of <u>Sands stilt, clay</u> <u>Sand</u> | phrase as ne eported. Giv stratigraphic etc.) | THICKNESS (feet) cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas | DEPTH (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land tible. Pollow 26 | |
| | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but paraginal at water-bearing, so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, i Sand, silt, clay Sand, silt, clay | phrase as ne epirtod. Giu stratigraphic stc.) | (feet) Cessary, in pair e depths in feet column, if feat 26 1 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage ad water-bearing, so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, i Sand, stilt, clay Sand, stilt, clay Packed, grayel & | phrase as ne eparted. Giv stratigraphic etc.) | (feet) Cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas 26 1 10 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Cranscribe driller's terminology literally but parage adatum unless otherwise indicated. Correlate with a constant of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, of Sand, silt, clay Sand, silt, clay Packed, gravel & sand lest; | phrase as ne eported. Giv stratigraphic etc.) | (feet) Cessary, in pair e depths in feet column, if feat 26 1 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage ad water-bearing, so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, i Sand, stilt, clay Sand, stilt, clay Packed, grayel & | phrase as ne eported. Giv stratigraphic stc.) | (feet) Cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas 26 1 10 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Cranscribe driller's terminology literally but parage a water-bearing, so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, of Sand, silt, clay Sand, silt, clay Packed, gravel & sand lest: Dim: 13' x 6" | phrase as no eported. Giv stratigraphic etc.) | (feet) Cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas 26 1 10 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage a water-bearing: so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, of Sand, silt, clay Sand Sand, silt, clay Packed, gravel & sand Test: Dim: 13' x 6" SWL: 7: Dd: 1); | phrase as ne eported. Giv stratigraphic etc.) | (feet) Cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas 26 1 10 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage advanter-bearing, so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, i Sand, silt, clay Sand, silt, clay Packed, gravel & sand lest: Dim: 1/3' x 6" SWL: 7' Dd: 11; Yield: 25 g. n. m. | | (feet) cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas 26 1 10 6 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage advanter-bearing, so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, i Sand, silt, clay Sand, silt, clay Packed, gravel & sand lest: Dim: 1/3' x 6" SWL: 7' Dd: 11; Yield: 25 g. n. m. | | (feet) cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas 26 1 10 6 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage a water-bearing: so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, of Sand, silt, clay Sand Sand, silt, clay Packed, gravel & sand Test: Dim: 13' x 6" SWL: 7: Dd: 1); | | (feet) cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas 26 1 10 6 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage advanter-bearing, so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, i Sand, silt, clay Sand, silt, clay Packed, gravel & sand lest: Dim: 1/3' x 6" SWL: 7' Dd: 1);' | | (feet) cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas 26 1 10 6 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage advanter-bearing, so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, i Sand, silt, clay Sand, silt, clay Packed, gravel & sand lest: Dim: 1/3' x 6" SWL: 7' Dd: 1);' | | (feet) cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas 26 1 10 6 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage advanter-bearing, so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, i Sand, silt, clay Sand, silt, clay Packed, gravel & sand lest: Dim: 1/3' x 6" SWL: 7' Dd: 1);' | | (feet) cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas 26 1 10 6 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage advanter-bearing, so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, i Sand, silt, clay Sand, silt, clay Packed, gravel & sand lest: Dim: 1/3' x 6" SWL: 7' Dd: 1);' | | (feet) cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas 26 1 10 6 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage advanter-bearing, so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, i Sand, silt, clay Sand, silt, clay Packed, gravel & sand lest: Dim: 1/3' x 6" SWL: 7' Dd: 1);' | | (feet) cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas 26 1 10 6 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |
| (1) ateri face 1 log | MATERIAL Transcribe driller's terminology literally but parage advanter-bearing, so state and record static level if r of materials, list all casings, perforations, screens, i Sand, silt, clay Sand, silt, clay Packed, gravel & sand lest: Dim: 1/3' x 6" SWL: 7' Dd: 1);' | | (feet) cessary, in pa e depths in fee column, if feas 26 1 10 6 | (feet) rentheses. 1 t below land ible. Follow | |

The Department of Ecology does NOT Warranty the Data and/or the Information on this Well Report.

ø

| | nd Copy—Owner's Copy STATE OF Copy—Driller's Copy | WASHINGTON Water Right Permit No. | | - |
|-------------|--|---|--------------|--------|
| (1) | OWNER: Name CITY OF PUYALLUP | Address 218 PODREER, PU | YALL | UP, |
| | LOCATION OF WELL: County PIERCE | TREET TANK SITE | LON.R. | 41 |
| (2a) (3) | PROPOSED LISE: Domestic Industrial D Municipal | (10) WELL LOG or ABANDONMENT PROCEDU | RE DESC | CRIPT |
| _ | DeWater Test Well X Other | Formation: Describe by color, character, size of material at thickness of aquifers and the kind and nature of the material in a | nd structure | and |
| (4) | TYPE OF WORK: Owner's number of well (if more than one) | with at least one entry for each change of information. | FROM | TO |
| | Abandoned New well Method: Dug Bored Deepened Cable Driven Reconditioned Rotary Jetted | BROWN SILTY SAND | 0 | 11 |
| 151 | | BROWN SILTY CLAY AND GRAVEL BROWN SAND AND GRAVEL | 60 | 6 |
| | DIMENSIONS: Diameter of well 12 inches. Drilled 294 leet. Depth of completed well 289 It. | BROWN SILTY SAND AND GRAVEL | 68 | 21 |
| | | SAND AND GRAJEL | 71 | 25 |
| | CONSTRUCTION DETAILS: | BROWN SAND AND GRAVEL | 75 | 12 |
| | Casing installed: 12 . Diam. from +2 tt. to 275 tt. | BROWN SANDY SILT | 122 | 13 |
| | Welded A Diam. fromft. toft. | BROWN SILTY SAND | 136 | 15 |
| | Threaded Diam. fromft. toft. | GRAY SILT WITH PEAT | 158 | 12 |
| | Perforations: Yes No | MEDIUM BROWN SAND | 178 | 19 |
| | Type of perforator used | BROWN SAND AND GRAJEL BROWN SAND | 195 | 20 |
| | SIZE of perforations in. by in. | GRAY SILT | 206 | 20 |
| | perforations fromft. toft. | BROWN SAND AND GRAVEL | 209 | 22 |
| | perforations from It, to It. | GRAY CLAY | 291 | 21 |
| - | - M 🗆 | and card | ~11 | 1 |
| | Manufacturer's Name UDP JOHNSCW | | | |
| | Type 304 STAINLESS Model No. | | 1 | 1 |
| 1.1 | Diam. 10" Slot size # 125" from 271 th. to 287 th. | | | 1 |
| . 1 | Diam Slot sizetromtt. tott. | | | 1 |
| | Gravel packed: Yes No X Size of gravel | | | 5 |
| | Gravel placed fromft. toft. | | | 1 |
| | Surface seal: Yes No To what depth? 20t. | | | |
| | Material used in seal CEMENT GROUT | | | |
| | Did any strata contain unusable water? Yes No | | | |
| | Type of water?Depth of strata | | | - |
| 1 | Method of sealing strata off | | | - |
| (7) | PUMP: Manufacturer's Name NA | | | |
| | Туре:Н.Р | | - | |
| | WATER LEVELS: Land-surface elevation ~ 305, ft. | | | |
| | Static level _2/0,3 ft. below top of well Date _\$//7/91 | | | |
| | Artesian pressure Ibs. per square inch Date | | | |
| | Artesian water is controlled by (Cap, valve, etc.)) | dal | 1 | - |
| (9) | WELL TESTS: Drawdowp is amount water level is lowered below static level | Work started 5/28/91_ 19. Completed 8/ | 27 | _, 19_ |
| | Was a pump test made? Yes No It yes, by whom? Holt + R+N | WELL CONSTRUCTOR CERTIFICATION: | | |
| | Yield: 1266 gel./min. with 10 ft. drawdown after 72 hrs. | I constructed and/or accept responsibility for const | ruction of | this w |
| | n n n n n | and its compliance with all Washington well cons | struction s | tandar |
| | Recovery data (time taken as zero when pump turned off) (water level measured | Materials used and the information reported above knowledge and belief. | are true to | , my D |
| 1 | from well top to water level) Time Water Level Time Water Level Time Water Level | NAME HOLT DRilling | | |
| 5 | Min 213.6 3days 210.6 | NAME HOL (DRITTING B | (TYPE OF | POINT |
| | M:N 21305 | 10C21 TOAN ADAN G | | |
| | tour 213.2 1/ | Address 10621 TODD ROAD E | 101 | |
| | Date of test 8/14/91 | K. A Ist | 100 | 4 |
| | Bailer test gal./min. with ft. drawdown after hrs. | (Signed) (WELL DRILLER) | 10 109 | |
| | Airtest gal./min. with stem set at ft. for hrs. | Contractor's Registration No. HOLTO(#13606 Date 9-6 | | |
| | | | | 1.00 |

Taxpayer Property Values and Taxes Detail



RTSQ: 04-20-32-4-4 School Dist: Puyallup



Pierce County Assessor-Treasurer

2401 South 35th St Room 142 Tacoma, Washington 98409 (253)798-6111 or Fax (253)798-3142

I acknowledge and agree to the prohibitions listed in RCW 42.17.260(9) against releasing and/or

http://www.co.pierce.wa.us/CFApps/atr/TIMSNet/taxpayerinfo.cfm

45292



| UNIQUE WELL I.D. NUMBER | A | C | A | 5 | 2 | 1 |
|------------------------------|---|---|---|---|---|---|
| And the second second second | x | Y | z | 1 | 2 | 5 |

Other

WELL TAGGING FORM

Date of Field Visit 5-29-98 By COCHRAN + BLUNDELL

ADDITIONAL WELL IDENTIFIERS

Department of Health System ID Number 70050H Source Number S0_9

USGS Site Identification

RECORD VERIFICATION

- Well Report available (please attach)
- □ Well Report not available
- Verification inconclusive

WELL OWNERSHIP, IF DIFFERENT FROM WELL REPORT

| Name City OF Puyallup | |
|---|--|
| Street address 1100 39th AVE S. | E, |
| City Payallup State 20 | 14. 98374 |
| LOCATION OF WELL, IF DIFFERENT FROM | A WELL REPORT |
| Well Address 96th AND FRUITLA | ND AVE |
| City County | PIERCE |
| T. 20 N. R. 04 E.W.M. Sec. 32 | \underline{SE} 4 of the \underline{SE} |
| | GPS (raw data) |
| Latitude <u>N47</u> ° 10 ' 15.2 | GPS (corrected) |
| | Topographic Map |
| Innaituda 21122 0 10 1 502 | |
| Longitude <u>20122</u> ° <u>18</u> <u>50,2</u> | <u>c</u> □ Survey |
| Longitude <u>20122</u> ° <u>18</u> ′ <u>50,2</u> 093 | |
| | □ Survey □ Computer generated |

| Additional inf | ormation, if | available: |
|----------------|--------------|------------|
|----------------|--------------|------------|

Location marked on topographic map (please attach)

Location marked on air photo (please attach)

| Water Right # | Priority Date | |
|---------------|-------------------|--|
| | | |

Circle one: Application Permit Certificate Claim Exempt

WELL CHARACTERISTICS

Physical Description of Well (size of casing, type of well, housing, etc.): 12" Careed

Well in well house

Location of Well Identification Tag: on pape lebral

Was Supplemental Tag needed for ease of identifying well?

If yes, where was tag placed?

Scale 1:24,000 (1"=2,000')

| D | с | В | • | |
|---|---------|----|---|--|
| E | F | G | н | Indicate the location of the well within the Section |
| м | L | к | 1 | by drawing a dot at that point. |
| N | Р @ | Q | R | |
| | CTION _ | 32 | | |

AGS549

RESOURCE PROTECTION WELL REPORT



RESOURCE PROTECTION WELL REPORT

| 1064469 Client Well # Project Name: <u>ARCO</u> State Identification # <u>AGS</u> Drilling Method: <u>HSA</u> Driller: <u>Brian G. Gost</u> Firm: <u>Cascade Drilling, Inc</u> Signature: <u>Brian</u> Consulting Firm: <u>Delfa E</u> Representative: <u>Unc Cop</u> | E Street Address E <u>150 2 Men</u> Water Level El Ground Surfac Date Installed: | 14 <u>SE</u> 1/4 Sec <u>33</u> Twn Zo <u>N</u> R <u>4E</u> of Well: <u>Indian Ave S, Puyallup</u> evation: <u>15</u> e Elevation: <u>N/A</u> <u>117</u> 07 |
|--|---|---|
| | Well Cover Concrete Surface Seal Depth = \mathcal{H} ft Blank Casing <u>J</u> " <u>10</u> , Material <u>f</u> UT Backfill <u>6</u> ft Type: <u>bent</u> . Cup5 Seal Material Gravel Pack <u>J</u> ft Material: <u>\mathcal{H} ft</u> Material: <u>\mathcal{H} ft</u> Screen <u>J</u> "x <u>J0</u> " Slot Size <u>o10</u> Material <u>f</u> UC Well Depth <u>30</u> , " Backfill Material Total Hole Depth <u>OF</u> | 0 - to ft Brain such + greuch 10 - 30 ft grey/brown silt, 5and some grevel |

- -

ECY 050-12 (Rev. 11/89)

a second a second a second

, , ,

ASG553

RESOURCE PROTECTION WELL REPORT

104462. Start Card # R 58733 Client Well # Project Name: ARCO County: PIERCE Location: NE1/4 SE 1/4 Sec 33 Twn Zon R 4E Project Name: HKCO State Identification # AGS 553 Street Address of Well:_ Drilling Method: <u>HSA</u> Drilling Method: <u>H5H</u> Driller: <u>Brian G. Gose</u> 1502 Mendian Ave 5, Puyallup Water Level Elevation: 16 Firm: Cascade Drilling, Inc. Signature: Consulting Firm: Delta Env. Representative: Uin Copparnoll Ground Surface Elevation: N/A Date Installed: _ 10/24/01 _____ Date Developed: _10/24/01 _____ 1722 WELL DATA FORMATION DESCRIPTION AS-BUILT Well Cover Concrete Surface Seal <u>0</u> -10 ft prom send + grand 1 Depth = / ft Т Blank Casing <u>2 "</u> to , Material <u>Pre</u> Brown, grey semol + silt + Some growel -Backfill **b**ft Type: <u>howt</u>. Cups Seal _____ Material _____ `Seal - Gravel Pack <u>W</u>ft Material: <u>412 Send</u> Screen <u>2</u> "x <u>20</u>, Slot Size 010 Material PVC RECEIVED NOV 2 7 2001 Well Depth <u>30</u>, " Washington State Department of Ecology Backfill Material – Total Hole Depth _____ SCALE: 1" =___ PAGE____OF ECY 050-12 (Rev. 11/89)

ASG595





ECY 050-12 (Rev. 11/89)

ASG550

RESOURCE PROTECTION WELL REPORT



The Department of Ecology does NOT Warranty the Data and/or the Information on this Well Report.

| - | | |
|-----|-----|--|
| ASG | 551 | |



ECY 050-12 (Rev. 11/89)

. . . .

1

| NITORING WEI | LL REPORT | BIK829 | Well ID | BEK 829 | | × | |
|--|--|--|--|--|---|--|---|
| | | 8 | Start Ca | nd # BEI1048 | | | - |
| | | | OLOCATION O | F WELL By lega | I description: | | |
| MANER PROFECT | WELL NO. | | ounty Hurce | Latitude | Longitude | | |
| livishington. | tate Fair | 0 | County TILLO | (N or S) Range 41 | E or W) Sect | 1033 | |
| TIO 944 HU | e SL | т | ownship dON | (N or S) Range | | | |
| # 110 Mm PIO | State WA | Zip 98371 | SE_ 1/4 of. | NE 1/4 c | f above section. | | |
| manup | Some UI | - 199 | Street address of well k | cation | | | - |
| TYPE OF WORK | | | | | | 100 | _ |
| THE OF WORK | | | | (| • | | |
| and the second se | Alteration (Repair/Record | dition) | Tax lot number of well | location | | | |
| X New construction | the second s | andonment | | | | | |
| Conversion | Deepening Ab | | | | | | - |
| | | | (7) STATIC WAT | ER LEVEL: | | | |
| DRILLING METHO | D | | Ft b | elow land surface. | Date | | ~ |
| Rotary Air | Rotary Mud Ca | ble | | | Date | | |
| Hollow Stein Auger | Other | | Artesian Pressure | | 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1 | | - |
| | | | (8) WATER BEA | RING ZONES: | | | |
| JORE HOLE CONS | TRUCTION: | | (o) WATER DEA | Idito Dotte | | | |
| BORE HOLE CONS al Standards Bult TO R R Bult Standards TO R Bult Standards S | | 10 | Depth at which water | res first found | | | - |
| al Standards | Depth of Completed Well | 15_ # | estration of the second | | Est. Flow Rate | SW | L |
| ЦЩ | A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL PROPERTY AND A | | From | To | the citra take | | - |
| | ki | | | | | | - |
| autt 6 | K H w. | ter-tight cover | | | | | _ |
|) Special Standards | 12 | | | | | | _ |
| | Sur-Sur | rface flush vault | | | | | |
| | L | ocking cap | | | | | |
| L A D | | asing dismeter 2" | | | | | - |
| ALL STREET | Ca | sing diameter o | (9) WELL LOG: | | | | |
| 202 MIN | | laterial | | and Elevation | | | - |
| E C C | Cord o | Velded Threaded Glued | | | From | To | SW |
| | | | | Material | From | | - |
| 0000 | 2584 | | | | | | 1 |
| al co | Deee | | | | | | 1 |
| | | | | | | | - |
| H 0000 | 00000 | Well Seal: | | | | | 1 |
| | | Material Rentonite | | 1. T. S | 1 | | |
| TO OGO | Cito Milli | Amount Chips | - ALAIAN | Siller Sand | 0 | 10 | 1 |
| 1 A President | 10.40 | und and | 5 Drown a | Silty Sand | | | |
| or o All | | Grout weight | L | 0, | 10 | 15 | T |
| OR SALL | ALL OF G | | Wit Co | arse Sand | 10 | 10 | 1 |
| | | | | | - | | + |
| 7 <u>0</u> 7 <u>9</u> | | and a second second | | | | | + |
| | | Gin from ft to LS ft. | | | | IN/E | Г |
| Stree all | - | | | | RECE | TIAF | - |
| 0.000 | - 0.0 | _ in from ft to ft. | | | | | 1 |
| | 0.50 | and the second second | | | APR 1 | 7 2015 | 1 |
| 0.2. | 11.100.80 | Beutonite plug at least 3 ft. this | ck | | | | T |
| TOD SOLLS | Paren | Gereen: | | | WA State | Danart | IN |
| ilter | | | | | INIA State | pepar | - |
| ilter 08 0 | E logo s | D' OVC. | | | MA Star | | |
| ack seet | and a second | Aaterial 2" PVC | - | | of Ecolo | gy (SV | - |
| ilter ds d ack: sg o t. sD og | 2000 A | Aaterial 2" PVC | | | of Ecolo | gy (SV | 1 |
| n Door | 1000 a 100 | Anterial 2" PVC | - | | of Ecolo | gy (SV | + |
| ack: seed | | Anterial <u>2" PVC</u> From <u>5</u> ft to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>20</u> in. | | | of Ecolo | gy (St | |
| ack: | | Anterial <u>2" PVC</u> From <u>5</u> ft to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>20</u> in. | | 1219015 0 | of Ecolo | gy (St | 1 |
| ack a bood | | Anterial <u>2" PVC</u> From <u>5</u> ft to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>20</u> in. | Date started 3 | 3/2015_~ | of Ecolo | gy (St | 1 |
| ack sold | Adding and | Azterial <u>2" PVC</u> From <u>S</u> ft. to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>20</u> in. Filter pack: Material <u>COLOROCOSANC</u> | Date started 3 | 3 12015 CC | of Ecolo | gy (St | 1 |
| ack sold | Adding and | Anterial <u>2" PVC</u> From <u>5</u> ft to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>20</u> in. | | ICTION CEPTIFI | cation: | 12015 | |
| ack sold | Adding and | Azterial <u>2" PVC</u> From <u>S</u> ft. to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>20</u> in. Filter pack: Material <u>COLOROCOSANC</u> | WELL CONSTR | UCTION CERTIFI | CATION: | s well, and i | ta |
| ACK A DOOD TO A DOOD A DOODOD A DOOD A DOOD A DOOD A DOOD A DOOD A DOOD A DOOD A D | Adding and | Azterial <u>2" PVC</u> From <u>S</u> ft. to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>20</u> in. Filter pack: Material <u>COLOROCOSANC</u> | WELL CONSTR | UCTION CERTIFI | CATION: | s well, and i | ta |
| TO DODU TO DODU TO DODU TO CONU TO CONU TO CONU TO CONU TO CONU TO CONU CON | | Azterial $2" PVC$ From <u>5</u> ft to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>20</u> in. Filter pack: Material <u>COLORACIOSANC</u> Size <u>10</u> 20 | WELL CONSTR | UCTION CERTIFI or accept responsibility a Washington well cons or recorted above are true | CATION: for construction of this for construction standards. Me to the to my best knowled | s well, and i Atteriais use | its ed. |
| ACK A DOODL TO TO TO TO TO TO TO TO TO TO | Adding and | Anterial <u>2" PVC</u> From <u>5</u> ft to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>20</u> in. Filter pack: Material <u>COLORACIOSANO</u> Size <u>10</u> <u>20</u> Plowing Artesian | WELL CONSTR | UCTION CERTIFI or accept responsibility a Washington well cons or recorted above are true | CATION: for construction of this for construction standards. Me to the to my best knowled | s well, and i Atteriais use | its ed. |
| TO DODU TO DODU TO DODU TO CONU TO CONU TO CONU TO CONU TO CONU TO CONU CON | | Azterial $2" PVC$ From <u>5</u> ft to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>20</u> in. Filter pack: Material <u>COLORACIOSANC</u> Size <u>10</u> 20 | WELL CONSTR I constructed and/ compliance with a and the informatio Type or Print Name | UCTION CERTIFI | CATION: for construction of the struction standards. In the to my best knowled effLicense No. | s well, and i Aateriais use tope and beli J7L9 | its ed. |
| t Dog TO Dog f f f f f f f f f f f f f f f f f f f | Bailer Air PH | Anternial <u>2" PVC</u> From <u>5</u> ft. to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>30</u> in. Filter pack: Maternial <u>COLORACIOSANO</u> Size <u>10</u> <u>20</u> Flowing Artesian <u>GPM</u> | WELL CONSTR I constructed and/ compliance with a and the informatio Type or Print Name Trainee Name | UCTION CERTIFI or accept responsibility a Washington well cons or reported above are tru David Ruck | CATION: for construction of the struction standards. More to my best knowled etc my best knowled etc License No. License No. | s well, and i Aateriais use tope and beli J7L9 | its ed. |
| WELL TESTS: | Bailer Air Yield | Anterial <u>2" PVC</u> From <u>5</u> ft to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>20</u> in. Filter pack: Material <u>COLORACIOSANO</u> Size <u>10</u> <u>20</u> Plowing Artesian | WELL CONSTR I constructed and/ compliance with a and the informatio Type or Print Name Trainee Name | UCTION CERTIFI or accept responsibility a Washington well cons or reported above are tru David Ruck | CATION: for construction of this for construction standards. No. e to my best knowled eff License No. License No. | s well, and i Acteriais use tige and belin J7L9 | its ed |
| Ack: TO TO TO A Coord Co | Bailer Air PH OF/C Depth arte | Anternial <u>2" PVC</u> From <u>5</u> ft. to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>30</u> in. Filter pack: Maternial <u>COLORACIOSANO</u> Size <u>10</u> <u>20</u> Flowing Artesian <u>GPM</u> | WELL CONSTR I constructed and/ compliance with a and the informatio Type or Print Name Trainee Name | UCTION CERTIFI or accept responsibility a Washington well cons or recorted above are true | CATION: for construction of this for construction standards. No. e to my best knowled eff License No. License No. | s well, and i Acteriais use tige and belin J7L9 | its ed |
| Ack: At. Door TO TO TO Dop At. Doop Accession Constant Permeability Conductivity Temperature of water Wes water analysis done | Bailer Air PH OF/C Depth arte | Anternial <u>2" PVC</u> From <u>5</u> ft. to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>30</u> in. Filter pack: Maternial <u>COLORACIOSANO</u> Size <u>10</u> <u>20</u> Flowing Artesian <u>GPM</u> | WELL CONSTR I constructed and/ compliance with a and the informatio Type or Print Name Trainee Name Drilling Company | UCTION CERTIFI or eccept responsibility a Washington well cons in reported above are tru David Ruck Holocene Dri | CATION: for construction of the struction standards. No. et to my best knowled et a conse No. License No. License No. | s well, and i Acteriais use age and beli DZLO | the set of |
| Ack: TO TO TO A Coord Co | Bailer Air PH OF/C Depeth arrow Yea No | Atterial <u>O'' PVC</u> From <u>S</u> ft to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>D</u> in. Filter pack: Material <u>CO D'OCOSANO</u> Size <u>D</u> <u>D</u> Flowing Artesian <u>GPM</u> esian flow found <u>ft</u> . | WELL CONSTR I constructed and/ compliance with a and the informatio Type or Print Name Trainee Name Drilling Company | UCTION CERTIFI or eccept responsibility a Washington well cons in reported above are tru David Ruck Holocene Dri | CATION: for construction of the struction standards. No. et to my best knowled et a conse No. License No. License No. | s well, and i Acteriais use age and beli DZLO | its ad |
| Ack: At aDoca TO Dopp S. At Dopp Conductivity Temperature of water West water analysis done | Bailer Air PH OF/C Depeth arrow Yea No | Anternial <u>2" PVC</u> From <u>5</u> ft. to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>30</u> in. Filter pack: Maternial <u>COLORACIOSANO</u> Size <u>10</u> <u>20</u> Flowing Artesian <u>GPM</u> | WELL CONSTR I constructed and/ compliance with a and the informatio Type or Print Name Trainee Name Drilling Company (Signed) Address 14.2 | UCTION CERTIFI or accept responsibility a Washington well cons in reported above are tru David Ruck Holocene Dri Constant Logond Auce | CATION: Tor construction of the struction standards. More to my best knowled et a my best knowled et a conserve. License No. License No. | s well, and i Acteriais use age and beli DZLO | its ad |
| Ack: TO TO TO A. Door TO TO TO TO TO TO TO TO TO TO | Bailer Air PH OF/C Depeth arrow Yea No | Atterial <u>O'' PVC</u> From <u>S</u> ft to <u>15</u> Slot size <u>D</u> in. Filter pack: Material <u>CO D'OCOSANO</u> Size <u>D</u> <u>D</u> Flowing Artesian <u>GPM</u> esian flow found <u>ft</u> . | WELL CONSTR I constructed and/ compliance with a and the informatio Type or Print Name Trainee Name Drilling Company (Signed) Address 14.2 | UCTION CERTIFI or eccept responsibility a Washington well cons in reported above are tru David Ruck Holocene Dri | CATION: Tor construction of the struction standards. More to my best knowled et a my best knowled et a conserve. License No. License No. | s well, and i Acteriais use age and beli DZLO | its ed. |

0

| BJP351 | - BJP388 |
|--------|----------|
|--------|----------|

STA PRIMA ST

| Ξ. | T | 1.00 | 1 |
|----|-----|-------|---|
| 0 | 11. | Acces | ł |
| | | | Ľ |
| 1 | | | l |
| | 100 | | • |

| WATER WELL REPORT Original & 1" copy - Ecology, 2 nd copy - owner, 3 rd copy - driller |
|--|
| DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY Start of Washington Construction/Decommission ("x" in circle) |
| State of Washington Construction |
| Decommission ORIGINAL INSTALLATION |
| Notice of Intent Number |
| PROPOSED USE: Domestic Industrial Municipal Ø DeWater Inrigation Test Well Other |
| TYPE OF WORK: Owner's number of well (if more than one) 38 wells |
| New well Reconditioned Method : Dug Bored Driven Deepened Cable Rotary Jetted |
| DIMENSIONS: Diameter of well <u>1.5</u> inches, drilled <u>20</u> fl. Depth of completed well <u>20</u> ft. |
| CONSTRUCTION DETAILS |
| Casing Welded " Diam. from ft. to ft. Installed: Liner installed " Diam. from ft. to ft. Installed: Threaded " Diam. From ft. to ft. |
| Perforations: 🔲 Yes 🛛 No |
| Type of perforator used |
| SIZE of perfsin. by in. and no. of perfsfromft. toft. |
| Screens: X Yes No K-Pac Location |
| Manufacturer's Name Western |
| Type PVC Point Model No. Diam. 2 in Stot size 20 from 18 ft. to 20 ft. Diam. Slot size from ft. to ft. |
| Gravel/Filter packed: Yes INO Size of gravel/sand <u>10/20</u> Materials placed from <u>3</u> ft. to ft. |
| Surface Seal: Yes INo To what depth? 3 ft. |
| Material used in seal Bentonite Chips |
| Did any strata contain unusable water? |
| Type of water? Depth of strata |
| Method of sealing strata off |
| PUMP: Manufacturer's Name |
| Туре: Н.Р |
| WATER LEVELS: Land-surface elevation above mean sea levelft. Static level <u>5</u> .ft. below top of well Date <u>1/22/2016</u> |
| Artesian pressure lbs. per square inch Date |
| Artesian water is controlled by (cap, valve, etc.) |
| WELL TESTS: Drawdown is amount water level is lowered below static level |
| Was a pump test made? Yes No If yes, by whom? |
| Yield:gal/min. withft. drawdown afterhrs. |
| Yield:gal/min. withft. drawdown afterhrs. Yield:gal/min. withft. drawdown afterhrs. |
| Recovery data (time taken as zero when pump turned off) (water level measured from well top to water level) |
| Time Water Level Time Water Level Time Water Level |
| |
| |
| Date of test |
| |
| Bailer test gal/min. with n drawdown aner mis. |
| Bailer test gal/min. with ft. drawdown after hrs. Airtest gal/min. with stem set at ft. for hrs. |
| Bailer testgal/min. withn. drawdown anerns. Airtestgal/min. with stem set atft. forhrs. Artesian flowg.p.m. Date |

Was a chemical analysis made? D Yes D No

| | ENT | | ent of Ec |
|-----------|--|-----------------------------|---------------|
| Notice of | f Intent No. <u>DE01816</u> Scology Well ID Tag No. <u>BJP351-BJP3</u> ght Permit No Owner Name Washington State Fair | FEB | 032016 |
| Unique E | cology Well ID Tag No. BJP351-BJP3 | 888 | 2010 |
| Vater Ri | ght Permit No | ater Resou | Ircan a |
| roperty | Owner Name Washington State Fair | | -cs Pro |
| Well Stre | eet Address 5th St SW | | |
| City Puya | allup County Pierce | | |
| | <u>NE1/4-1/4 SE1/4 Sec 33</u> Twn 20N 1 till REQUIRED) C | | Or WWM □ |
| Tax Par | Ing Lat Deg Lat Min/S Long Deg Long Min cel No. (Required) <u>Road ROW</u> CONSTRUCTION OR DECOMMISSION on: Describe by color, character, size of material and | PROCEDUR | E |
| nature of | the material in each stratum penetrated, with at le- nation. (USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS IF NECES | ast one entry for SARY.) | r each change |
| P | MATERIAL 1.5 inch PVC | FROM | то |
| | Peet, organic material | 0 | 5 ft |
| 1 | Fine gray sand | 5 | 15 ft |
| 4 | Coarse sand small cobbles | 15 | 20 ft |
| | 3 ft surface seal w/ bentonite chips | | |
| _ | | | |
| | 10 /20 colorado sand pack | | |
| | 10 /20 colorado sand pack | | |
| | 2 in x 2 ft PVC Screen | | |
| | 2 in x 2 ft PVC Screen 20 slot screen | | |
| | 2 in x 2 ft PVC Screen 20 slot screen RECEIVED | | |
| | 2 in x 2 ft PVC Screen 20 slot screen | | |

WELL CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATION: I constructed and/or accept responsibility for construction of this well, and its compliance with all Washington well construction standards. Materials used and the information reported above are true to my best knowledge and belief.

| Driller Engineer Trainee Name (Print) Randy Harris | | | | | |
|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| Driller/Engineer/Trainee Signature | Drilling Company Harris Water Well Drilling LLC | | | | |
| Driller or trainee License No. 1374 | Address 3980 E North Island Dr | | | | |
| IF TRAINEE: Driller's License No: | City, State, Zip Shelton , WA , 98584 | | | | |
| Driller's Signature: Randy Harrb | Contractor's Registration No. <u>Harriww873J9</u> Date 1/22/2016 | | | | |
| | D D D 220 407 4073 | | | | |

ECY 050-1-20 (Rev 02/10) If you need this document in an alternate format, please call the Water Resources Program at 360-407-6872. Persons with hearing loss can call 711 for Washington Relay Service. Persons with a speech disability can call 877-833-6341.

Temperature of water

APPENDIX C WATER RIGHTS



G2-02756

S. F. No. 7361-3-53-3M. 34100.

CERTIFICATE RECORD NO. 4 PAGE NO. 1944-A

1944

STATE OF WASHINGTON, COUNTY OF Pierce

Certificate of Ground Water Right

Issued in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 263, Laws of Washington for 1945, and amendments thereto, and the rules and regulations of the State Supervisor of Water Resources thereunder.

| This Is to Certify | That. JOHN 1 | MLADINICH | | |
|--------------------|--------------|-----------|------|--|
| | | | | |

of _______ Puyallup, Mashington ______, has made proof

to the satisfaction of the State Supervisor of Water Resources of Washington, of a right to the use of the ground waters of a well

located within the SW of MW of Sec. 34, Twp. 20 N., Rge. 4 E.W.M.

for the purpose of irrigation

| under and subject to provisions contained in Ground Water Permit No. 2608 issued by the State |
|---|
| Supervisor of Water Resources and that said right to the use of said ground waters has been perfected |
| in accordance with the laws of Washington, and is hereby confirmed by the State Supervisor of Water |
| Resources of Washington and entered of record in Volume at page1944-A; |
| that the right hereby confirmed dates from October 1, 1952 ; that the quantity of ground |
| water under the right hereby confirmed for the purposes aforesaid, is limited to an amount actually |
| beneficially used for said purposes, and shall not exceed 25 gallons per minute; 4 acre-feet |
| per year to be used for irrigation of acres. |

A description of the lands to which such ground water right is appurtenant, and the place where such water is put to beneficial use, is as follows:

> The S¹/₂ of the following described tract: Beginning at the quarter section corner in the West boundary of Sec. 34, Twp. 20 N., Rge. 4 E.W.M.; thence North along West boundary of said section 825 feet to the North boundary of 13th Avenue Southeast, formerly Cliff Street, for place of beginning; thence East along North boundary of said street 438.87 feet; thence North 490.08 feet; thence West 440.78 feet to the West boundary of said Sec. 34; thence South along said West boundary 500.22 feet to place of beginning; EXCEPT streets.

The right to the use of the ground water aforesaid hereby confirmed is restricted to the lands or place of use herein described, except as provided in Sections 6 and 7, Chapter 122, Laws of 1929.

WITNESS the seal and signature of the State Supervisor of Water Resources affixed this

20th day of August , 19 54.

ales State Supervisor of Water Resources.

FERING DATA UNR

1944

Ground Water Permit No.

CERTIFICATE OF GROUND WATER RIGHT

Recorded in the office of the State Supervisor of Water Resources, Olympia, Wash-

ington, in Book No. of Ground

Water Right Certificates, on page

on the day of

195.....

該

10

STATE OF WASHINGTON, County of ______ }ss.

I certify that the within was received and

| page | | on | the | day | 0 | f |
|------|---------------------------------------|----|-----|---------|---|---|
| | 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 | | | | | |

11

STATE PRINTING PLANT OLYMPIA, WASHINGTON

G2-28849

Good Samaritan Hospital 407 14th Avenue SE Puyallup, Washington 98372-3795



STATE OF WASHINGTON CERTIFICATE OF WATER RIGHT

Document Title: Certificate of Water Right

Agency: Department of Ecology Southwest Regional Office P.O. Box 47775 Olympia, WA 98504-7775 Applicant: Good Samaritan Hospital 407 14th Avenue SE Puyallup, Washington 98372-3795

Reference Number:

| PRIORITY DATE | APPLICATION NUMBER | PERMIT NUMBER | CERTIFICATE NUMBER |
|---------------|--------------------|---------------|--------------------|
| May 20, 1993 | G2-28849 | G2-28849 | G2-28849 |

This is to certify that the herein named applicant has made proof to the satisfaction of the Department of Ecology of a right to the use of the public waters of the State of Washington as herein defined, and under and specifically subject to the provisions contained in the Permit issued by the Department of Ecology, and that said right to the use of said waters has been perfected in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington, and is hereby confirmed by the Department of Ecology and entered of record as shown, but is limited to an amount actually beneficially used.

| | F | UBLIC WATE | RS TO BE APPROPRI | ATED | | |
|---------------------|---------------|---------------------|--|----------------|-----------------------|--|
| SOURCE | | TRIBUTARY OF (IF SU | SURFACE WATERS) | | | |
| Well | | | | | | |
| MAX. CUBIC FE | ET PER SECON | ID MAX. | GALLONS PER MINUTE | MAX | K. ACRE-FEET PER YEAR | |
| | | 200 | | Eme | ergency Use Only | |
| QUANTITY/TYP | E OF USE/PERI | OD OF USE | | | | |
| Emerency Use LEG | | | (Boiler Feedwater) CATION OF DIVERS | | | |
| 1/4 1/4 SW¼ NW¼ | SECTION 34 | TOWNSHIP N. 20 | RANGE (E. OR W.) W.M. 4E | W.R.I.A. 10 | COUNTY Pierce | |
| PARCEL # | R9810000013 | | | | - | |
| | | | | ADDITION | AL LEGAL IS ON PAGE | |
| LEGA | LDESCRIP | TION OF PRO | PERTY ON WHICH W | ATER IS | TO BE USED | |
| LEGA | DESCRI | | | | | |

| 1/4 1/4 | SECTION | TOWNSHIP N. | RANGE (E. OR W.) W.M. | W.R.I.A. | COUNTY | |
|----------|---------|-------------|-----------------------|----------|--------|--|
| N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A | 10 | Pierce | |
| PARCEL # | N/A | | | | | |

ADDITIONAL LEGAL IS ON PAGE 2

CONTINUED LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR LOCATION OF DIVERSION/WITHDRAWAL

570 feet North and 1050 feet East of the West quarter corner of Section 34.

CONTINUED LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR PROPERTY ON WHICH WATER IS TO BE USED

Parcel E: Lots 1 through 11, inclusive, Block 1; Lots 4 through 16, inclusive, Block 13; and Lots 1 through 11, inclusive, Block 2, Wood's First Addition to Puyallup, Pierce County, Washington, according to Plat recorded in Book 4 of Plats at page 16, records of Pierce County Auditor, TOGETHER with street and alley vacation and air space per order under Auditor's Fee No. 2148199. Parcel F: The East half of Lots 5 to 11, inclusive, Block 3, Wood's First Addition to Puyallup, Pierce County, Washington, according to Plat recorded in Book 4 County, Washington, according to Plat recorded in Book 4 of Plats at page 16, records of Pierce County Auditor EXCEPT relocated 4th Street Southeast. Parcel G: The West one-half of Lots 5 to 11, inclusive, in Block 3 of Wood's First Addition to Puyallup, Pierce County, Washington, according to Plat recorded in Book 4 of Plats at page 15 in Puyallup, Pierce County Washington.

PROVISIONS

All conditions and requirements contained in reports of examination or permits previously issued apply to this certificate unless specifically noted below.

"This certificate authorizes the use of the well on an emergency basis only. The well may be used in the event that the City of Puyallup is physically incapable of providing service due to man-made or natural disaster."

An approved measuring device shall be installed and maintained for each of the sources identified by this water right in accordance with the rule "Requirements for Measuring and Reporting Water Use", Chapter 173-173 WAC. Water use data shall be recorded *monthly* and shall be submitted *annually* to Ecology by January 31st of each calendar year, (or more frequently if necessary).

The right to use of the water aforesaid hereby confirmed is restricted to the lands or place of use herein described, except as provided in RCW 90.03.380, 90.03.390, and 90.44.100.

This certificate of water right is specifically subject to relinquishment for non-use of water as provided in Chapter 90.14 RCW.

Given under my hand and the seal of this office at Olympia, Washington, this <u>12th</u> day of <u>July</u>, 2002.

> Tom Fitzsimmons, Director Department of Ecology

By J. Mike Harris, Section Supervisor



APPENDIX D WATER QUALITY EXCEEDANCE DATA



| | | | | | | Resul | t UOMCod | | AnalyteGr | 0 | TestPanelCo | | |
|-----------|-------------------|--------------------|---------|------------|--------------|----------------|----------|----------------------|-----------|----------------------------|-------------|-----------------------------|------------------------|
| LevelType | LevelTypeName | Source SrcDOEld La | abNum S | amNum SamC | ollectDate F | ResultQty Coli | е | UOMName | upCode | AnalyteGroupName | de | TestPanelName | AnalyteName |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | Distribution | 81 | 61977 | 4/3/1978 | 0.47 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | ICHEM | PRE II/V INORGANIC ANALYSIS | IRON |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | Distribution | 81 | 61977 | 4/3/1978 | 0.056 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | ICHEM | PRE II/V INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | Distribution | 51 | 4747 | 9/2/1981 | 0.108 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | ICHEM | PRE II/V INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 3 10G123 | 51 | 7241 | 6/25/1984 | 0.35 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | ICHEM | PRE II/V INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | Distribution | 51 | 7240 | 6/25/1984 | 5.5 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | ICHEM | PRE II/V INORGANIC ANALYSIS | IRON |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | Distribution | 51 | 7240 | 6/25/1984 | 0.198 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | ICHEM | PRE II/V INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 3 10G123 | 51 | 9568 | 3/9/1987 | 0.079 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | ICHEM | PRE II/V INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 3 10G123 | 89 | 4721 | 1/22/1990 | 0.068 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | ICHEM | PRE II/V INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 3 10G123 | 89 | 14546 | 7/14/1993 | 0.12 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | ICHEM | PRE II/V INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 8 | 89 | 20794 | 4/10/1995 | 0.79 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC | COMPLETE INORGANIC ANALYSIS | IRON |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 8 | 89 | 20794 | 4/10/1995 | 0.085 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC | COMPLETE INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 2 | 89 | 23037 | 5/1/1995 | 11 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC | COMPLETE INORGANIC ANALYSIS | IRON |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 8 | 89 | 21091 | 5/9/1995 | 0.062 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC | COMPLETE INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | Distribution | 89 | 21614 | 6/28/1995 | 0.181 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC | COMPLETE INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| Р | Coliform Presence | Distribution | 89 | 13271 | 4/15/1996 | Р | /100ml | Per 100 milliliters | MICRO | MICROBIOLOGICAL | COLI_AP | ABSENCE / PRESENCE | TOTAL COLIFORM |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 3 10G123 | 89 | 26059 | 8/15/1996 | 0.069 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC | COMPLETE INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL1 | Primary MCL | 5 10G092 | 89 | 73213 | 8/27/1996 | 221.4 | ug/L | Micrograms per Liter | DBP | DISINFECTION BY PRODUCTS | THM | TOTAL TRIHALOMETHANE | MAXIMUM TTHM POTENTIAL |
| MCL1 | Primary MCL | 8 | 89 | 73215 | 8/27/1996 | 110.5 | ug/L | Micrograms per Liter | DBP | DISINFECTION BY PRODUCTS | THM | TOTAL TRIHALOMETHANE | MAXIMUM TTHM POTENTIAL |
| MCL1 | Primary MCL | 9 | 89 | 73216 | 8/27/1996 | 102.7 | ug/L | Micrograms per Liter | DBP | DISINFECTION BY PRODUCTS | THM | TOTAL TRIHALOMETHANE | MAXIMUM TTHM POTENTIAL |
| Р | Coliform Presence | Distribution | 89 | 37343 | 5/27/1997 | Р | /100ml | Per 100 milliliters | MICRO | MICROBIOLOGICAL | COLI_AP | ABSENCE / PRESENCE | E. COLI |
| Р | Coliform Presence | Distribution | 89 | 37343 | 5/27/1997 | Р | /100ml | Per 100 milliliters | MICRO | MICROBIOLOGICAL | COLI AP | ABSENCE / PRESENCE | TOTAL COLIFORM |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 8 | 89 | 35076 | 9/30/1998 | 0.067 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC | COMPLETE INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 3 10G123 | 89 | 39292 | 8/3/1999 | 0.068 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC | COMPLETE INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 5 10G092 | 89 | 39293 | 8/3/1999 | 0.061 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC | COMPLETE INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 8 | 89 | 39295 | 8/3/1999 | 0.076 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC | COMPLETE INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 3 10G123 | 89 | 53627 | 1/30/2002 | 0.067 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC | COMPLETE INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 8 | 89 | 53630 | 1/30/2002 | 0.062 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC | COMPLETE INORGANIC ANALYSIS | MANGANESE |
| Р | Coliform Presence | Distribution | 89 | 72390 | 8/12/2002 | Р | /100ml | Per 100 milliliters | MICRO | MICROBIOLOGICAL | COLI_AP | ABSENCE / PRESENCE | TOTAL COLIFORM |
| Р | Coliform Presence | Distribution | 89 | 74409 | 9/3/2002 | Р | /100ml | Per 100 milliliters | MICRO | MICROBIOLOGICAL | COLI_AP | ABSENCE / PRESENCE | TOTAL COLIFORM |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | Distribution | 89 | 59684 | 1/3/2003 | 1.23 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC | COMPLETE INORGANIC ANALYSIS | IRON |
| Р | Coliform Presence | Distribution | 89 | 31750 | 6/21/2004 | Р | /100ml | Per 100 milliliters | MICRO | MICROBIOLOGICAL | COLI_AP | ABSENCE / PRESENCE | TOTAL COLIFORM |
| MCL1 | Primary MCL | 6 | 89 | 70979 | 8/20/2004 | 135 | ug/L | Micrograms per Liter | DBP | DISINFECTION BY PRODUCTS | THM | TOTAL TRIHALOMETHANE | TOTAL TRIHALOMETHANE |
| Р | Coliform Presence | Distribution | 89 | 86297 | 9/6/2011 | Р | /100ml | Per 100 milliliters | MICRO | MICROBIOLOGICAL | COLI AP | ABSENCE / PRESENCE | TOTAL COLIFORM |
| Р | Coliform Presence | Distribution | 89 | 28034 | 10/5/2015 | Р | /100ml | Per 100 milliliters | MICRO | MICROBIOLOGICAL | COLI AP | ABSENCE / PRESENCE | TOTAL COLIFORM |
| Р | Coliform Presence | | 89 | 47973 | 6/27/2016 | Р | /100ml | Per 100 milliliters | MICRO | MICROBIOLOGICAL | COLI AP | ABSENCE / PRESENCE | TOTAL COLIFORM |
| Р | Coliform Presence | Distribution | 89 | 50742 | 8/1/2016 | Р | /100ml | Per 100 milliliters | MICRO | MICROBIOLOGICAL | COLI AP | ABSENCE / PRESENCE | TOTAL COLIFORM |
| Р | Coliform Presence | Distribution | 89 | 1201 | 7/2/2018 | Р | /100ml | Per 100 milliliters | MICRO | MICROBIOLOGICAL | COLI AP | ABSENCE / PRESENCE | TOTAL COLIFORM |
| Р | Coliform Presence | Distribution | 89 | 28307 | 5/28/2019 | Р | /100ml | Per 100 milliliters | MICRO | MICROBIOLOGICAL | COLI AP | ABSENCE / PRESENCE | TOTAL COLIFORM |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 5 10G092 | 89 | 7921 | 7/25/2019 | 0.075 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | IOC SHORT | INORGANIC SHORT FORM | MANGANESE |
| | , | | | 8132 | | 0.08 | 0. | | IOC | INORGANIC CONTAMINANTS | - | INORGANIC SHORT FORM | |
| MCL2 | Secondary MCL | 3 10G123 | 89 | 8132 | 7/31/2019 | 0.08 | mg/L | Milligrams per Liter | IUC | INURGAINIC CUNTAIVIINAINTS | IOC SHORT | INURGAINIC SHURT FURIVI | MANGANESE |

APPENDIX E SPILL PREVENTION AND CLEANUP PLAN



SPILL PREVENTION AND RESPONSE PLAN

| Business | Phone: | |
|-----------------|---------|--|
| Name: | FIIONE. | |
| Address: | E-mail: | |
| City/State/Zip: | Date: | |

SPILL PLANNING AND PREVENTION

Take inventory of chemicals and liquids onsite using the Hazardous Material Inventory (Attachment A) – Identify locations and quantities on site plan.

Collect spill clean-up materials for kits, including personal protection equipment (PPE), neutralizing absorbent materials, absorbent pads, hazardous waste containers, booms, and catch basin mat covers – Identify locations of spill kits on site plan.

Designate and train spill clean-up coordinator.

Train staff annually on spill plan and how to use spill clean-up kits. Document trainings in the Employee Training Log (Attachment B).

Facility activities with potential to create spills:

Fueling and fuel transfer

Outside drum and/or container storage

Vehicle, equipment, and building washing

Loading/unloading of products

Landscape construction/maintenance

Customer and employee vehicles

Other:

Facility equipment/structures with potential to create spills:

Oil/water separator(s)

Underground Storage Tank(s) and associated piping and fill sumps

Fuel dispensers and sumps

Car wash water treatment system

Other:

Inspection, maintenance, and repair of materials, equipment, and structures:

Conduct monthly inspections of stored hazardous materials, equipment, and structures with potential to cause pollution if spilled/leaked or potential to be impacted by a spill/leak, using the Monthly Inspection and Maintenance Log (Attachment C). Conduct maintenance, repairs, and replacements based on results of inspections.

| IN CASE OF SPILL, CONTACT THE FOLLOWING: | | | | |
|---|-------|--|--|--|
| Business owner/Site | Name: | Phone: | | |
| Manager | | | | |
| On site clean-up | Name: | Phone: | | |
| coordinator | | | | |
| Third Party Spill Clean-up contractor (1): | | | | |
| Third Party Spill Clean-up contractor (2): | | | | |
| REQUIRED to call if a spill is too large to | | IF IMMEDIATE SAFETY THREAT CALL 911 | | |
| contain or reaches a storm or sewer facility: | | WA Department of Ecology: (306) 407-6300 | | |

SPILL RESPONSE PROCEDURES

Take no action that would put yourself or anyone else in danger

If spill is related to transfer of fuel during bulk delivery, transport driver is responsible for directing spill response

Spill kits are located beneath fueling canopies and near the car wash

| | INCIDENTAL SPILL CLEAN-UP PROCEDURES | | | | |
|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Α | A spill is defined as "incidental" when it can be contained with materials and | | | | |
| | personnel on hand and has little/no risk of reaching a storm/sewer facility. | | | | |
| | Evaluate situation, including safety issues: Notify owner, clean-up coordinator, other necessary people. | | | | |
| | Put on PPE. | | | | |
| | If spill is active, stop spill source | | | | |
| | Shut off any ignition sources | | | | |
| | If necessary, close stormwater shutoff valve upstream of treatment equipment | | | | |
| | Protect drain(s) by installing drain covers and placing protective socks/booms. | | | | |
| | Clean up the spill with appropriate materials (mats, pads, absorbent clay, etc.) located in spill kit. Follow instructions in spill kit, contact clean-up coordinator with questions. | | | | |
| | Properly dispose of impacted materials and other wastes. | | | | |
| | Restock the spill kit with all required materials. Document the spill with the spill coordinator. | | | | |
| | Complete the Spill Log provided in Attachment D | | | | |

| NON-INCIDENTAL SPILL CLEAN-UP PROCEDURES | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|
| A spill is defined as "non-incidental" when it cannot be readily contained with materials and personnel on hand, may reach (or has reached) a storm/sewer facility, has other potential to migrate offsite, or otherwise poses hazard to environment or individuals in the vicinity. | | | | |
| Evaluate situation, including safety issues: Notify owner, spill coordinator, other necessary people. | | | | |
| If necessary, evacuate public to safe zone. | | | | |
| Put on PPE. | | | | |
| Stop active spill source as possible. | | | | |
| □ Shut off ignition sources as possible. | | | | |
| Close stormwater shutoff valve upstream of treatment equipment | | | | |
| Protect drain(s) by installing drain covers and placing protective socks/booms. | | | | |
| Contact third-party spill cleanup contractor listed in Spill Prevention Plan | | | | |
| Stand by to assist with spill assessment, cleanup, notification, and reporting | | | | |
| Complete the Spill Log provided in Attachment D | | | | |

Hazardous Material Inventory ARCO ampm Fueling Station Puyallup, Washington

| Hazardous Substance | Storage Container Type | Volume/Quantity | Location |
|---------------------------|------------------------------------|-----------------|----------|
| Premium gasolines, Diesel | Double walled split fiberglass UST | 22,000 gallons | |
| Unleaded gasoline | Double walled fiberglass UST | 25,000 gallons | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

Employee Training Log ARCO ampm Fueling Station Puyallup, Washington

| Employee's Printed Name | Employee's Signature | Date Completed |
|-------------------------|----------------------|----------------|
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |

Monthly Inspection and Maintenance Log ARCO ampm Fueling Station Puyallup, Washington

Date: _____

Inspector: _____

| Inspection Observations (yes/no) | | Maintenance/Repair Actions | | |
|---|---------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| Hazardous Material Storage | | | | |
| Are all hazardous materials properly stored with secured lids and labels? If not, secure lids and label containers as needed. | | | | |
| <i>Is there evidence of leaks/spills in the vicinity of stored hazardous substances? If yes, clean up leaks/spills as needed.</i> | | | | |
| Leak Detection and Monitoring Systems | | | | |
| Are alarms activated on the leak detection and monitoring systems? If yes, identify and address leaks as needed. | | | | |
| Equipment/Structure Performance ^(a) | | | | |
| Oil/Water Separator(s) | | | | |
| Underground Storage Tank(s) and associated piping and fill sumps | | | | |
| Fuel dispensers and sumps | | | | |
| Leak detection and monitoring systems | | | | |
| Car wash water treatment system | | | | |
| Catch basins | | | | |
| Floor drains | | | | |
| NOTE: ^{(a).} Note whether each listed equipment/structure is pro | operly functioning. If no, identify a | and address maintenance/repairs as needed. | | |



Spill Log ARCO ampm Fueling Station Puyallup, Washington

| Date/Time of Spill | Location of Spill/ Media Impacted | Spill Source | Substance Spilled | Spill Volume/ Quantity | Containment and Clean-up Actions |
|-----------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------|-------------------|---------------------------|----------------------------------|
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |